MINISTRY OF EDUCATION
AND TRAININGVIETNAM ACADEMY OF
SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

GRADUATE UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



THAM NHU PHONG

ON THE FAST REACTION LIMIT OF NONLINEAR BULK-SURFACE REACTION-DIFFUSION SYSTEMS

MASTER'S THESIS IN MATHEMATICS

Hanoi - 2024

MINISTRY OF EDUCATION AND TRAINING SC

VIETNAM ACADEMY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

GRADUATE UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY



THAM NHU PHONG

ON THE FAST REACTION LIMIT OF NONLINEAR BULK-SURFACE REACTION-DIFFUSION SYSTEMS

MASTER'S THESIS IN MATHEMATICS

Major: Applied Mathematics Code: 8 46 01 12

Ame

SUPERVISORS : 1. Assoc. Prof. Dr. Hoang The Tuan 2. Dr. Tang Quoc Bao

Hanoi - 2024

BỘ GIÁO DỤCVIỆN HÀN LÂM KHOA HỌCVÀ ĐÀO TẠOVÀ CÔNG NGHỆ VIỆT NAMHỌC VIỆN KHOA HỌC VÀ CÔNG NGHỆ



Thẩm Như Phong

VỀ GIỚI HẠN PHẢN ỨNG NHANH CHO CÁC HỆ PHẢN ỨNG KHUẾCH TÁN MIỀN – BIÊN PHI TUYẾN

LUẬN VĂN THẠC SĨ TOÁN HỌC

Ngành: Toán ứng dụng Mã số: 8 46 01 12

> NGƯỜI HƯỚNG DẪN KHOA HỌC : 1. PGS. TS Hoàng Thế Tuấn 2. TS. Tăng Quốc Bảo

Hà Nội, 2024

Commitment

I declare that this thesis is the result of a research process under the supervision of Assoc. Prof. Hoang The Tuan and Dr. Tang Quoc Bao. All information and ideas cited from other authors have their sources clearly stated. I completely agree being responsible for these commitments.

Hanoi, September 2024

Thim Nhu Phong

Acknowledgements

First, I would like to express my deep gratitude to my supervisors, Assoc. Prof. Hoang The Tuan and Dr. Tang Quoc Bao for their constant encouragement, cooperation, and invaluable guidance.

I want to thank the Institute of Mathematics and the Graduate University of Science and Technology, where I received an excellent condition during my Master's course. I also would like to thank my classmates and the Department of Differential Equations seniors for helping me during this challenging time.

And last but not least, I would like to thank my family for their endless love and unconditional support.

Author Ph Tham Mui Phong

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Commitment						
	Ack	nowledgements	ii			
	List	of Abbreviations and symbols	v			
IN	NTR(DUCTION	1			
1	PR	ELIMINARIES	6			
	1.1	L^p spaces	6			
	1.2	Sobolev spaces	9			
		1.2.1 Sobolev spaces on bounded domains	9			
		1.2.2 Sobolev spaces on surfaces	12			
		1.2.3 Spaces involving time	13			
	1.3	Weak convergence and embedding theorems	16			
		1.3.1 Weak convergence	16			
		1.3.2 Embedding theorems	17			
	1.4	Weak solutions of reaction-diffusion systems	9			
2	FAS	T REACTION LIMITS 2	22			
	2.1	The main theorem and outline of proof	22			
	2.2	Uniform boundedness of the solution	23			
	2.3	Boundedness of gradient operator	29			
	2.4	Functional space for time derivative	35			

3	LIMIT SYSTEM AND CONVERGENCE RATE			
	3.1	Limit system	38	
	3.2	Convergence rate	43	
Re	efere	nces	51	

References

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

\mathbb{R}^n	The n -dimensional Euclidean space
x	The Euclidean norm of x in Euclidean space
$x \cdot y$	Inner product of x, y in Euclidean space
$\ x\ _X$	Norm in Banach space X
$(x,y)_H$	Inner product in Hilbert space H
$L^p(\Omega)$	The space of functions $f: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ that p -integrable
$L^p(\Gamma)$	The space of functions $f: \partial \Omega := \Gamma \to \mathbb{R}$ that p -integrable
$H^1(\Omega)$	Sobolev space of functions with weak derivative in $L^2(\Omega)$
$H^1(\Gamma)$	Sobolev space of functions with weak derivative in $L^2(\Gamma)$
X^*	dual space of X
$H^{-1}(\Omega)$	Dual space of $H^1(\Omega)$
$H^{-1}(\Gamma)$	Dual space of $H^1(\Gamma)$
$\langle x, y \rangle_{X^* \times X}$	Pairing between $x \in X^*$ and $y \in X$
$\langle x, y \rangle_{\Omega}$	Pairing between $x \in H^{-1}(\Omega)$ and $y \in H^1(\Omega)$
$\langle x, y \rangle_{\Gamma}$	Pairing between $x \in H^{-1}(\Gamma)$ and $y \in H^1(\Gamma)$
$L^2(0,T;X)$	Space of functions $f: [0,T] \to X$, with $\int_0^T \ f(t)\ _X^2 dt$
	is finite
$\nu(x)$	unit outward normal vector at $x\in \Gamma:=\partial\Omega$ of the domain Ω
∇f	Gradient operator of f
Δf	Laplace operator of f
$ abla_{\Gamma} f$	Tangential gradient operator of f on Γ
$\Delta_{\Gamma} f$	Laplace–Beltrami operator of f on Γ

INTRODUCTION

Motivation

Fast reaction limits (or instantaneous limits) is a topic that has been developed in recent years. In particular, the main idea is that in a series of reactions that there are some reactions, which occur very quickly, then we will approximate those reactions by their equilibrium states, which reduce the numbers of reaction and variable, and make the system become simpler. In fact, the first research on this topic dates back to the beginning of the last century through discoveries in the field of biochemistry with the article by Michaelis and Menten [1], from which it quickly became a technique that popular in technical chemistry and related fields. However, although it is widely applied in practical problems, a rigorous mathematical proof of this method has not been paid attention for a long time. Moreover, abusing this method can lead to incorrect results, with a counterexample given in [2]. Therefore, a detailed proof of this reduction idea, even in just for a system contains one reaction, is being interested.

Besides, early researches on the fast reaction limits were mainly for the systems of ordinary differential equations, which were intended to simplify the problem by considering the concentration at all locations to be the same (or also called homogeneity). For realistic models, the inhomogeneous property, for example, spatial diffusion, often have to be taken into account. It led to new studies on the fast reaction limits for systems of partial differential equations, starting from 1980 with Evans's paper study-

ing a system of two diffusion equations in the 3-dimensional case (see [3]). Since then, this research direction has become popular not only because of its applications but also theoretically when it comes to many interesting mathematical structures, some typical works include, [4, 5, 6, 7]. In particular, the study of fast reaction limits for bulk-surface reaction-diffusion systems (or volume-surface reaction-diffusion systems) has received a lot of attention in recent years when the system is used for modeling in a number of fields such as population biology, materials science or cell biology (see, e.g., [8, 9, 10]). Here, an example is article [6], where the authors consider the reaction equation:

$$U \stackrel{k}{\underset{k}{\hookrightarrow}} V$$

with U is a substance on volume Ω , V is a substance on boundary $\Gamma := \partial \Omega$ and k is the reaction rate. Denote (u_k, v_k) the concentration of U and V, corresponding to reaction rate k. It has been shown in article [6] that

$$(u_k, v_k) \to (w, w|_{\Gamma})$$

strongly in $L^2(0,T; H^1(\Omega) \times H^1(\Gamma))$ as $k \to \infty$, where w is the weak solution of a heat equation with dynamical boundary and $w|_{\Gamma}$ is the trace of w on the boundary Γ . At the end of the article, the authors have given an open question in nonlinear case, which means considering the stoichiometrics in the chemical reaction are arbitrary positive numbers, what can we conclude about the fast reaction limits. In this thesis, we will have a result about this open question.

Main content

Consider an open, bounded, and connected set $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, we will research the asymptotic behavior of the reversible chemical reactions with the form

$$\alpha U \stackrel{k}{\underset{k}{\longleftrightarrow}} \beta V \tag{1}$$

when the reaction rate k > 0. Similar to the case $\alpha = \beta = 1$ as above, U is a (volume-)substance on Ω , V is a (surface-)substance on $\Gamma := \partial \Omega$ (we assume that the boundary Γ is smooth enough) and the stoichiometric coefficients $\alpha, \beta \geq 1$ (in the view of chemistry, we can assume that $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{Z}^+$).

The reaction (1) is motivated from a process called asymmetric stem cell division, where there is a reaction between the proteins in cell cortex and cell cytoplasm. An example is in SOP stem cells of Drosophila, the division operates around a key protein called Lgl (Lethal giant larvae) and the chemical reaction is the reaction between the Lpl protein on cytoplasm and the one on membrane (see [8] and its references).

To rewrite reaction (1) in a mathematical problem, we set u(x,t) and v(x,t) stand for the concentration of U and V at position x and time t. Due to the mass action law and Fick's second law, we can model (1) by the following reaction-diffusion system problem

$$\begin{cases} u_t - d_u \Delta u = 0, & x \in \Omega, t > 0, \\ d_u \nabla u \cdot \nu = -\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon} (u^{\alpha} - v^{\beta}), & x \in \Gamma, t > 0, \\ \partial_t v - d_v \Delta_{\Gamma} v = \frac{\beta}{\epsilon} (u^{\alpha} - v^{\beta}), & x \in \Gamma, t > 0, \\ u(x, 0) = u_0(x) \ge 0, & x \in \Omega, \\ v(x, 0) = v_0(x) \ge 0, & x \in \Gamma, \end{cases}$$
(2)

where we change the parameter $\epsilon = 1/k$. In the above system, positive constants d_u and d_v are the diffusion coefficients of U in Ω and V in Γ , respectively. We use the notation Δ for Laplace operator on Ω , Δ_{Γ} for the Laplace–Beltrami operator on Γ and ν for the outward pointing unit normal vector field on the boundary Γ . The initial condition (u_0, v_0) are some non-negative function defined on Ω and Γ , which should be bounded on corresponding area. The second and third equations of (2) are coupled by the rate function $u^{\alpha} - v^{\beta}$, which is a consequence of mass action law. The system (2) is a bulk-surface reaction-diffusion system (or volume-surface reaction-diffusion system) with nonlinear boundary coupling, and we call nonlinear bulk-surface-reaction-diffusion system for short. From the system (2), we can show that it satisfies the following mass conservation law

$$\alpha \int_{\Omega} u(x,t)dx + \beta \int_{\Gamma} v(x,t)dS = \alpha \int_{\Omega} u_0(x)dx + \beta \int_{\Gamma} v_0(x)dS = M_0,$$

for each t > 0, and M_0 is some non-negative constant.

In this thesis, we will concentrate on two questions. The first one is about the fast reaction limit, that is, the reaction rate $k \to \infty$, or, ϵ tend to 0, how the solution of (2) converges. Let $(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$ be the unique weak solution of the system (see [10]), we will show that there exists a subsequene of $\{(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})\}$, converges to (w, z) as the parameter $\epsilon \to 0$, where $z = (w|_{\Gamma})^{\alpha/\beta}$ and w is the solution to a heat equation with nonlinear dynamic boundary condition, see (3).

On the second question, we will consider on the convergence rate. In detail, we will show that in the case $\alpha = \beta$, and adding some technical assumption, we will have a estimate in term ϵ for $|u_{\epsilon} - w|$ and $|v_{\epsilon} - z|$ (in the L^2 - norm).

Methodology

In this thesis, we will prove the fast reaction limits by using functional analytic approach. In this method, most of recent articles have done with three main steps (see [4],[6],[11]). The first one is formally guessing the limit, base on the structure of system. In the system (2), formally, one can expect that $u_{\epsilon} \to w$ and $v_{\epsilon} \to z$ as $\epsilon \to 0$, in a certain sense, and due to the reactions in (2), it is expected that $u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta} \to 0$ on Γ , as the reaction rate tends to infinity, which means the limit $w^{\alpha} = z^{\beta}$ on Γ . Therefore, from the original system (2), by substituting (u, v) by $(w, (w|_{\Gamma})^{\alpha/\beta})$, and combining the second and third equation to remove the parameter ϵ , the formal limit system of the original system (2) as $\epsilon \to 0$ would be

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t w - d_u \Delta w = 0, & x \in \Omega, t > 0, \\ d_u \nabla w \cdot \nu = -\frac{\alpha}{\beta} [\partial_t (w^{\alpha/\beta}) - d_v \Delta_{\Gamma} (w^{\alpha/\beta})], & x \in \Gamma, t > 0, \\ w(x,0) = u_0(x), & x \in \Omega, \\ w|_{\Gamma}(x,0) = v_0^{\beta/\alpha}(x), & x \in \Gamma. \end{cases}$$
(3)

This a heat equation with nonlinear dynamic boundary conditions.

The next step is to prove uniform estimations using the L^p approach, entropy function, and so on, which is based on the structure of the system (see [12]). In the last step, by these estimations, we will take the limit, such as applying Aubin–Lions Lemma (see Lemma 1.1) and then define the solution of the limit system. In these step, the second step is the most difficult since we do not have any global method for this one, and also we do not know which estimation is required.

For the second problem, the convergence rate, we use a similar calculation in [7] by setting U = u - w and V = v - z, and then estimates the L^2 -norm of them with their time derivative. During the calculation, we will need some technical assumptions.

Thesis structure

This thesis will be structured as following: In the first chapter, we will present some important knowledge for the result, including Sobolev spaces, Aubin–Lions Lemma and the existence of solution for system (2). Then, on Chapter 2, we show that the convergence. After that, the limit system and convergence rate will be shown on Chapter 3. Finally, we will discuss some questions related to this problem.

Chapter 1

PRELIMINARIES

The target of this chapter is to present some basic notations, definitions and theorems, which are necessary for the following chapters.

1.1 L^p spaces

A vector $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)^T \in \mathbb{R}^n$, the Euclidean norm is given by

$$|x| = \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i^2}.$$

For two vectors $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)^T$ and $y = (y_1, \ldots, y_n)^T$, the inner product between x and y is given by

$$x \cdot y = \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i y_i.$$

Otherwise, if it is a norm defined for a Banach space X, we will use the notation $\|\cdot\|_X$, and, for an inner product for a Hilbert space H, we denote by $(\cdot, \cdot)_H$.

Definition 1.1 ([13]). Consider an open subset Ω of \mathbb{R}^n , we define $L^p(\Omega)$

is the space of all functions $f: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ with the finite L^p -norm

$$\|f\|_{L^p(\Omega)} := \left(\int_{\Omega} |f(x)|^p dx\right)^{1/p}$$

if $1 \leq p < \infty$. For the case $p = \infty$, we use the norm

$$||f||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} := \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \Omega} |f(x)|.$$

We call a property that holds almost everywhere on Ω , if it is true on Ω except a (or union of) subset(s) that has measure equal to 0, and written short as "a.e." (see [13, Section 1.4]).

Definition 1.2 ([14]). Let U, V be open subset of \mathbb{R}^n . We write $U \subset \subset V$, if $U \subset \overline{U} \subset V$, and we say the subset U us compactly contained in V.

Definition 1.3 ([14]). The functional sapce $L^p_{loc}(\Omega)$ contains all functions $f: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$, such that for every $K \subset \subset \Omega$, $f \in L^p(K)$.

Theorem 1.1 (Hölder's inequality, [14]). Assume $1 \le p, q \le \infty$, 1/p + 1/q = 1. Then, if $u \in L^p(\Omega), v \in L^q(\Omega)$, we have

$$\int_{\Omega} |uv| dx \le ||u||_{L^p(\Omega)} ||v||_{L^q(\Omega)}.$$

Let $(X, \|\cdot\|_X)$ and $(Y, \|\cdot\|_Y)$ be two Banach spaces, the product space $X \times Y$ is the space that contains all the elements (x, y), with $x \in X$ and $y \in Y$. In this case, we use the norm in $X \times Y$

$$||(x,y)||_{X\times Y} := ||x||_X + ||y||_Y.$$

Next, we state three important convergence theorems.

Theorem 1.2 (Fatou's Lemma, [14]). Assume the functions $\{f_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ are

non-negative and measurable, we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \liminf_{k \to \infty} f_k dx \le \liminf_{k \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} f_k dx.$$

Remark 1.1. The Fatou's lemma still works if we change the non-negative condition to a lower bound or an upper bound condition. Indeed, if there exists an integrable function g, where for all k, $f_k \ge -g$ a.e.; we can apply the original Fatou's lemma to the sequence of functions $f_k + g \ge 0$. We obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} \liminf_{k \to \infty} (f_k + g) dx \le \liminf_{k \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} (f_k + g) dx.$$

So,

$$\int_{\Omega} \liminf_{k \to \infty} f_k dx \le \liminf_{k \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} f_k dx.$$

For the upper bound case $f_k \leq g$, we apply to sequence $\{g - f_k\}$, which we need to change limit to limit and change the sign of inequality to get

$$\int_{\Omega} \limsup_{k \to \infty} f_k dx \ge \limsup_{k \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} f_k dx.$$

Theorem 1.3 (Monotone Convergence Theorem, [14]). Consider increasing sequence of non-negative functions $\{f_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$, that is, $0 \leq f_i \leq f_j$ (where $i \leq j$), we have

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} f_k dx = \int_{\Omega} \lim_{k \to \infty} f_k dx.$$

Theorem 1.4 (Dominated Convergence Theorem, [14]). Assume the functions $\{f_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ are integrable and satisfy $\lim_{k\to\infty} f_k = f$. Suppose also $|f_k| \leq g$ a.e. for all k, we have

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} f_k dx = \int_{\Omega} \lim_{k \to \infty} f_k dx = \int_{\Omega} f dx$$

Definition 1.4 ([15]). We denote X^* the dual space of X, which is the space that contains all the linear functional on X. The norm on X is the

operator norm

$$||f||_{X^*} = \sup_{||x||_X \le 1} \langle f, x \rangle_{X^* \times X},$$

which $\langle f, x \rangle_{X^* \times X} = f(x)$ is the pairing of $f \in X^*$ and $x \in X$.

Remark 1.2. Let $1 , the dual sapce of <math>L^p(\Omega)$ is $L^q(\Omega)$, where 1/p + 1/q = 1

1.2 Sobolev spaces

In this section, we will briefly present the theory of Sobolev spaces, which is a powerful tool of functional analysis to work on problems in partial differential equations.

1.2.1 Sobolev spaces on bounded domains

We first start with the Sobolev space on the domain Ω , where Ω is an open, bounded subset of \mathbb{R}^n . Sobolev space comes from the idea of defining a functional space that is Banach but still has some smoothness properties, or its function has a weak derivative - a weakened form of the classical derivative.

Definition 1.5 (Weak derivative, [14]). Denote $C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ the space of infinitely differentiable functions with compact support in Ω . Suppose that $u, v \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$ and a multi-index $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n)$. We say that v is the α^{th} - weak partial derivative of u, written as

$$D^{\alpha}u = v,$$

if the following equation holds for all $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$

$$\int_{\Omega} u D^{\alpha} \varphi dx = (-1)^{|\alpha|} \int_{\Omega} \varphi v dx.$$

With the weak derivative mentioned above, we now give the definition for Sobolev spaces

Definition 1.6 (Sobolev spaces, [14]). With $k \in \mathbb{N}, 1 \leq p < \infty$, the Sobolev space

$$W^{k,p}(\Omega)$$

contains all function $u : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ such that for each multi-index α , with $|\alpha| \leq k$, u has the α^{th} -weak derivative $D^{\alpha}u$ and it belongs to $L^{p}(\Omega)$.

Notice that with k = 0, the Sobolev space $W^{0,p}(\Omega) = L^p(\Omega)$. Next, we go to the norm of Sobolev space.

Proposition 1.1 (Norm of Sobolev spaces, [14]). Sobolev space $W^{k,p}(\Omega)$ is a Banach space, equipped by the following norm

$$\|u\|_{W^{k,p}(\Omega)} := \left(\sum_{|\alpha| \le k} \int_{\Omega} |D^{\alpha}u|^p dx\right)^{1/p}.$$

Notation: In the thesis, we mostly work in the Sobolev spaces with p = 2, and we use the notation:

$$H^k(\Omega) := W^{k,2}(\Omega) \quad (k \in \mathbb{Z}^+),$$

where the letter H is used since it is a Hilbert space.

Proposition 1.2 ([14]). The Sobolev space $H^k(\Omega)$ is a Hilbert space, with the inner product

$$(u,v)_{H^k(\Omega)} := \sum_{|\alpha| \le k} \int_{\Omega} (D^{\alpha}u) (D^{\alpha}v) dx.$$

One of the most significant difference between $L^p(\Omega)$ and $W^{k,p}(\Omega)$ spaces is that Sobolev spaces allow us to work with the boundary of Ω via the trace theorems. Before stating a theorem, we need to define the smooth domain (or domain with smooth boundary).

Definition 1.7 (Smooth domain, [16]). An open set $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is C^k if for each point $x_0 \in \Gamma := \partial \Omega$, there exists a system of coordinates $(y_1, \ldots, y_{n-1}, y_n)$ $\equiv (\mathbf{y}', y_n)$, with origin x_0 and a ball $B(x_0, r)$ and a function ϕ (on ycoordinate), defined in a neighborhood $N_{x_0} \subset \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$ of $\mathbf{y}' = 0'$, satisfies the conditions

• $\phi \in C^k(N_{x_0}), \ \phi(0') = 0;$

•
$$\Gamma \cap B(x_0, r) = \{ (\mathbf{y}', y_n) : y_n = \phi(\mathbf{y}'), \mathbf{y}' \in N_{x_0} \};$$

•
$$\Omega \cap B(x_0, r) = \{ (\mathbf{y}', y_n) : y_n > \phi(\mathbf{y}'), \mathbf{y}' \in N_{x_0} \}.$$

A domain is Lipschitz if the mapping ϕ is Lipschitz.

Remark 1.3. From here, a boundary Γ of the domain Ω is C^k (Lipschitz) if the domain is C^k (Lipschitz).

Theorem 1.5 (Trace theorem, [14]). Assume Ω is bounded and C^1 , there exists a bounded linear operator $T : W^{1,p}(\Omega) \to L^p(\Gamma)$, with $1 \leq p < \infty$, such that

- $Tu = u|_{\Gamma}$ if $u \in W^{1,p}(\Omega) \cap C(\overline{\Omega})$.
- For all $u \in W^{1,p}(\Omega)$: $||Tu||_{L^p(\Gamma)} \leq C ||u||_{W^{1,p}(\Omega)}$, where C is not depend on u.

From here, we use the notation $u|_{\Gamma}$, which stands for the trace of $u \in H^1(\Omega)$.

Remark 1.4. The space $L^p(\Gamma)$ in the above theorem is the space of all function $u: \Gamma \to \mathbb{R}$ with the finite $L^p(\Gamma)$ -norm

$$\|u\|_{L^p(\Gamma)} := \left(\int_{\Gamma} u^p dS\right)^{1/p}$$

where $1 \leq p < \infty$, and the integration is defined by localization (see, e.g., [16]). For $p = \infty$, we use the essential supremum norm

$$||u||_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma)} := \operatorname{ess sup}_{x \in \Gamma} |u(x)|.$$

1.2.2 Sobolev spaces on surfaces

As discussed in the introduction, we not only work with functions on domain Ω but also the functions defined on its boundary. Assume that the boundary Γ of the domain Ω is at least C^2 . A way to define the Sobolev spaces on Γ is to consider the boundary as a compact manifold, where various books have mentioned it (see, e.g., [17] and [18]). In this thesis, we will present another way to establish Sobolev spaces $W^{k,p}(\Gamma)$ on the boundary Γ , which is summarized from [19] and [20]. The authors define the Sobolev space via the weak derivative in these articles. Denote $\nu(x) =$ $(\nu_1(x), \ldots, \nu_n(x))$ is the unit outward normal vector at $x \in \Gamma$ (see [14]), we first introduce the tangential gradient and Laplace–Beltrami operator.

Definition 1.8 (Tangential gradient and Laplace–Beltrami operator, [20]). Let $f: \Gamma \to \mathbb{R}$ be differentiable, the tangential gradient of f at point $x \in \Gamma$ is defined by the projection

$$\nabla_{\Gamma} f(x) = \nabla \bar{f}(x) - [\nabla \bar{f}(x) \cdot \nu(x)]\nu(x),$$

where \overline{f} is a smooth extension of f to an n dimensional neighborhood U of Γ (about constructing \overline{f} , see, e.g., [20, Section 2.3]) and ∇ is the normal gradient in \mathbb{R}^n .

The Laplace–Beltrami operator is the Laplace operator on Γ , given by

$$\Delta_{\Gamma} f = \nabla_{\Gamma} \cdot \nabla_{\Gamma} f = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \bar{D}_{i} \bar{D}_{i} f,$$

and \overline{D}_i is the coordinate of tangential gradient

$$abla_{\Gamma}f(x) = (\bar{D}_1f(x), \dots, \bar{D}_nf(x)).$$

Let $H: \Gamma \to \mathbb{R}$, given by

$$H(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \bar{D}_i \nu_i(x) \quad \text{for } x \in \Gamma$$

be the mean curvature, the weak derivative and Sobolev spaces on surfaces can be defined as below.

Definition 1.9 (Weak derivative and Sobolev spaces on boundary, [20]). A function $f \in L^1(\Gamma)$ has the weak derivative $v_i = \overline{D}_i f \in L^1(\Gamma)$; if for all test function $\varphi \in C^1(\Gamma)$ with compact support $\overline{\{x \in \Gamma \mid \varphi(x) \neq 0\}} \subset \Gamma$, the following equation holds

$$\int_{\Gamma} f \bar{D}_i \varphi dS = -\int_{\Gamma} \varphi v_i dS + \int_{\Gamma} f \varphi H \nu_i dS.$$

Then, the Sobolev space $W^{1,p}(\Gamma)$ is defined by

$$W^{1,p}(\Gamma) = \{ f \in L^p(\Gamma) | \bar{D}_i f \in L^p(\Gamma), i = 1, 2, ..., n \},\$$

with the norm

$$\|f\|_{W^{1,p}(\Gamma)} = \left(\|f\|_{L^{p}(\Gamma)}^{p} + \|\nabla_{\Gamma}f\|_{L^{p}(\Gamma)}^{p}\right)^{1/p}.$$

We will use the notation $H^1(\Gamma) := W^{1,2}(\Gamma)$ for this Hilbert space.

1.2.3 Spaces involving time

In this part, we will present the theory in spaces of function that map a time interval into a Banach space X. These functions are essential since we are studying the parabolic partial differential equations. The idea is to think of a function u(x,t) as a family of functions u(t), that each one is constructed as a function belongs to X.

Definition 1.10 (Measurable function, [14]). A function $f : [0,T] \to X$ is called measurable if there exists a sequence of functions $\{s_k\}$ such that

$$s_k(t) \to f(t) \text{ for a.e. } 0 \le t \le T,$$

and s_k has form

$$s_k(t) = \sum_{i=1}^m \lambda_{E_i}(t) u_i, \ t \in [0, T],$$

where E_i is a Lebesgue measurable subset of [0,T], λ_{E_i} is the indicator function on E_i and $u_i \in X$.

We mow recall the definition of the L^p -space of the Banach-space valued functions.

Definition 1.11 (Bochner spaces, [14]). The space $L^p(0,T;X)$ contains all measurable functions $u: [0,T] \to X$ that has finite norm

$$||u||_{L^p(0,T;X)} := \left(\int_0^T ||u||_X^p\right)^{1/p}$$

for $1 \leq p < \infty$. For $p = \infty$, the norm is defined by

$$||u||_{L^{\infty}(0,T;X)} := \operatorname{ess sup}_{t \in [0,T]} ||u||_X.$$

Definition 1.12 ([14]). The space C([0,T];X) contains all continuous functions $u: [0,T] \to X$ with the norm

$$||u||_{C([0,T];X)} := \sup_{t \in [0,T]} ||u||_X.$$

We can expand to the definition of (strongly) differentiable continuous functions $C^k([0,T], X)$ by the Fréchet derivative (see [16, Section 7.11]). The weak derivative of Banach-space valued functions is given by

Definition 1.13 (Weak derivative, [14]). For $u \in L^1(0,T;X)$, a function $v \in L^1(0,T;X)$ is called weak time derivative of u, and written: u' = v, if

$$\int_0^T \phi'(t)u(t)dt = -\int_0^T \phi(t)v(t)dt$$

for all test functions $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(0,T)$, the space of all infinitely differentiable functions with compact support on (0,T).

In the next chapters, we will work with the spaces that the functions locate in Hilbert space $H^1(\Omega)$ (or $H^1(\Gamma)$) and its time derivative belongs to its dual space $H^{-1}(\Omega)$ (or $H^{-1}(\Gamma)$) (we denote $H^{-1}(\Omega) := H^1(\Omega)^*$). The following is an essential theorem about what happens if we have a space with properties as above.

Theorem 1.6 ([13]). Suppose that $u \in L^2(0,T; H^1(\Omega))$, and $u' \in L^2(0,T; H^{-1}(\Omega))$. Then, $u \in C([0,T]; L^2(\Omega))$, and we have the identity

$$\frac{d}{dt} \|u(t)\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 = 2\langle u'(t), u(t) \rangle_{H^{-1}(\Omega) \times H^1(\Omega)}$$

for a.e. $t \in [0,T]$. The notation $\langle u'(t), u(t) \rangle_{H^{-1}(\Omega) \times H^1(\Omega)}$ denotes the paring between $u'(t) \in H^{-1}(\Omega)$ and $u(t) \in H^1(\Omega)$.

Remark 1.5. Beside u', the notations u_t , $\partial_t u$ or $\frac{\partial}{\partial t} u$ also present the (weak) time derivative of u.

Remark 1.6. The theorem also works when we replace $H^{-1}(\Omega), L^2(\Omega)$ and $H^1(\Omega)$ by V^*, H and V, respectively, where the relation $V \subset H$ is dense and continuous (see, e.g., [13]). In the thesis, we will work with the triple $H^1(\Omega) \subset L^2(\Omega) \subset H^{-1}(\Omega)$ (and the corresponding in Γ). For the rest of this thesis, we will use the notation: $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\Omega}$ for the pairing in $H^{-1}(\Omega)$ and $H^1(\Omega)$; and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\Gamma}$ for the pairing in $H^{-1}(\Gamma)$ and $H^1(\Gamma)$.

Remark 1.7. The identity in the Theorem 1.6 can be proved by using a smooth functions sequence $\{u_n\}$ that approximates u (e.g., mollifier function). For a.e. $t \in [0,T]$, we have

$$\|u_n(t_2)\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 - \|u_n(t_1)\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 = 2\int_{t_1}^{t_2} \langle u'_n(\tau), u_n(\tau) \rangle_{\Omega} d\tau.$$

Then, the conclusion is obtained by taking the limit $n \to \infty$ (see full proof in [13]). Due to the proof, we can expand to calculate the time derivative of the following function

$$F[u](t) := \int_{\Omega} u^{\alpha}(x, t) dx,$$

where $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, u is non-negative, $u \in L^2(0,T; H^1(\Omega)) \cap L^{\infty}(0,T; L^{\infty}(\Omega))$ and $u' \in L^2(0,T; H^{-1}(\Omega))$. We have for a.e. $0 \le t \le T$

$$\frac{d}{dt}\int_{\Omega}u^{\alpha}dx = \alpha \langle u'(t), u(t) \rangle_{\Omega}.$$

At the end of this section, we present a theorem about the dual space of $L^p(0,T;X)$.

Theorem 1.7 (Dual space, [13]). Let X is reflexive, p, q > 1 and 1/p + 1/q = 1, the dual space of $L^p(0,T;X)$ can be identified with the space $L^q(0,T;X^*)$.

1.3 Weak convergence and embedding theorems

1.3.1 Weak convergence

Definition 1.14 (Weak convergence, [14]). Let denote X is a real Banach space. A sequence $\{u_k\} \subset X$ is called weakly converges to $u \in X$, notation with the "half-arrow"

$$u_k \rightharpoonup u,$$

if it provides

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \langle v, u_k \rangle_{X^* \times X} = \langle v, u \rangle_{X^* \times X}$$

for all v in X^* .

Remark 1.8. The strong convergence implies the weak convergence and the limit of weak convergence is unique (see, e.g., [16]).

Theorem 1.8 (Uniform boundedness implies weak convergence, [14]). Consider a Hilbert space H and a sequence of functions $\{u_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ bounded uniformly in H. Then, there exists a subsequence of $\{u_k\}$ that converges weakly in H.

1.3.2 Embedding theorems

Definition 1.15 (Compact embedding, [14]). Consider Banach spaces $X \subset Y$, X is called compactly embedded in Y if the following conditions are satisfied

- The embedding X into Y is continuous, i.e $||x||_X \leq C ||x||_Y$ for all $x \in X$ and constant C do not depend on x.
- Every bounded sequence in X has a subsequence that converges in Y.

We need an important result about the compact embedding of Sobolev space.

Theorem 1.9 ([16]). The embedding $H^1(\Omega)$ into $L^2(\Omega)$ is compact, with Ω is an open, bounded subset of \mathbb{R}^n , and the boundary is C^1 .

Similar to the above theorem, we have an analogous theorem for the boundary Γ , which is a case of Proposition 3.4, chapter 4 in [18]

Theorem 1.10 ([18]). The embedding $H^1(\Gamma)$ into $L^2(\Gamma)$ is compact.

Next, we state the Aubin–Lions Lemma (or Aubin–Lions–Simon lemma), which is a essential tool for nonlinear fast reaction limit problems.

Lemma 1.1 (Aubin–Lions, [21]). For $1 < p, q < \infty$, we denote

$$W := \{ u \in L^p(0,T;X_0) : u' \in L^q(0,T;X_2) \}$$

with X_0, X_1, X_2 are Banach spaces such that X_0 is compactly embedded in X_1 and X_1 is continuously embedded in X_2 . Then, the embedding of W into $L^p(0,T;X_1)$ is compact.

Remark 1.9. The above lemma can be restated as follows (see [22]): we consider a sequence of functions $\{u_n\}$ of two variables t and x, with the time variable $t \in [0,T]$ and space variable x. Let X_0, X_1 and X_2 be Banach space. Assume that these conditions hold:

- The sequence $\{u_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is bounded uniformly in $L^p(0,T;X_0)$, with 1 ;
- time derivative $\{\partial_t u_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is bounded uniformly in $L^q(0,T;X_2)$, with $1 < q < \infty$;
- We have the embedding: X₀ is embedded compactly in X₁ and X₁ is continuous embedded in X₂.

Then, the sequence $\{u_n\}$ admits a subsequence that converges strongly in $L^p(0,T,X_1)$.

Remark 1.10. A common triple space for X_0, X_1 and X_2 are the Hilbert triple $H^1(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^2(\Omega) \hookrightarrow H^{-1}(\Omega)$. However, since the lemma only requires X_1 to be embedded continuously on X_2 and X_0 need not be the dual space of X_2 , we can use other appropriate functional spaces, depending on the situation.

1.4 Weak solutions of reaction-diffusion systems

In this section, we will recall the existence of bounded weak solution for system (2), which have been stated and proved in [10] for a more general setting.

Definition 1.16 ([10]). We call $(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$ a weak solution of (2) on (0, T)(with given T > 0), parameterized $\epsilon > 0$ if it satisfies the regularity conditions

$$u_{\epsilon} \in C([0,T]; L^{2}(\Omega)) \text{ and } u_{\epsilon} \in L^{\infty}(0,T; L^{\infty}(\Omega)) \cap L^{2}(0,T; H^{1}(\Omega));$$
 (1.1)

$$v_{\epsilon} \in C([0,T]; L^{2}(\Gamma)) \text{ and } v_{\epsilon} \in L^{\infty}(0,T; L^{\infty}(\Gamma)) \cap L^{2}(0,T; H^{1}(\Gamma));$$
 (1.2)

and the following weak formulations hold

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega} (-u_{\epsilon}\varphi_{t} + d_{u}\nabla u_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla\varphi) dx dt = \int_{\Omega} u_{0}\varphi(0) dx - \frac{\alpha}{\epsilon} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Gamma} (u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta})\varphi dS dt \qquad (1.3)$$

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Gamma} (-v_{\epsilon}\psi_{t} + d_{v}\nabla_{\Gamma}v_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla_{\Gamma}\psi) dS dt = \int_{\Gamma} v_{0}\psi(0) dS + \frac{\beta}{\epsilon} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Gamma} (u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta})\psi dS dt \qquad (1.4)$$

for all non-negative test functions $\varphi \in C^1([0,T]; L^2(\Omega)) \cap L^2(0,T; H^1(\Omega))$ and $\psi \in C^1([0,T]; L^2(\Gamma)) \cap L^2(0,T; H^1(\Gamma))$, with $\varphi(T) = 0$ and $\psi(T) = 0$.

Remark 1.11 (Abuse of notation). In the above definition, the term u_{ϵ} appears on the integral of Γ is the trace of u_{ϵ} , follows by the trace theorem.

The following theorem, which is a special case for Theorem 2.2 in [10]

Theorem 1.11 (Existence and uniqueness of weak solution [10]). For each non-negative initial data $(u_0, v_0) \in L^{\infty}(\Omega) \times L^{\infty}(\Gamma)$, there exists an unique non-negative pair of functions $(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$, corresponding to parameter ϵ , which the weak solution of system (2) (in the sense of Definition 1.16).

Remark 1.12. In the thesis, for convenience in calculation, we will use another weak formulation for $(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$:

$$\begin{cases} \langle \partial_t u_{\epsilon}, \varphi \rangle_{\Omega} + \int_{\Omega} d_u \nabla u_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla \varphi dx = -\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma} (u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta}) \varphi dS \\ \langle \partial_t v_{\epsilon}, \psi \rangle_{\Gamma} + \int_{\Gamma} d_v \nabla_{\Gamma} v \cdot \nabla_{\Gamma} \psi dS = \frac{\beta}{\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma} (u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta}) \psi dS, \end{cases}$$
(1.5)

which holds for a.e. $t \in (0,T)$ and for all test functions $(\varphi, \psi) \in H^1(\Omega) \times H^1(\Gamma)$, and satisfies the initial conditions $u_{\epsilon}(x,0) = u_0(x)$ on $L^2(\Omega)$ and $v_{\epsilon}(x,0) = v_0(x)$ on $L^2(\Gamma)$. The regularity condition becomes

$$u_{\epsilon} \in L^{2}(0,T; H^{1}(\Omega)) \cap L^{\infty}(0,T; L^{\infty}(\Omega)) \text{ and } \partial_{t}u_{\epsilon} \in L^{2}(0,T; H^{-1}(\Omega));$$

$$(1.6)$$

$$u_{\epsilon} \in L^{2}(0,T; H^{1}(\Gamma)) \cap L^{\infty}(0,T; L^{\infty}(\Gamma)) \text{ and } \partial_{t}u_{\epsilon} \in L^{2}(0,T; H^{-1}(\Gamma))$$

$$v_{\epsilon} \in L^{2}(0,T; H^{1}(\Gamma)) \cap L^{\infty}(0,T; L^{\infty}(\Gamma)) \text{ and } \partial_{t}v_{\epsilon} \in L^{2}(0,T; H^{-1}(\Gamma)).$$
(1.7)

The equivalence for weak formulations and defining the weak solution can be proved by using some theorems in Bochner space (for e.g., see [23, Chapter 3] and [16, Chapter 10]).

Remark 1.13. The positivity of solution is preserved from the initial condition, due to the properties of rate functions called quasi-positive (see [12]). Besides, the positivity of u_{ϵ} still holds on the boundary, i.e. we have $u_{\epsilon} \ge 0$ for a.e. on $\Gamma \times (0,T)$, which can be proved by consider a non-negative sequence of function $\{u_n\}$ that approximates u_{ϵ} (e.g., mollifiers functions). The non-negative and smoothness to boundary of $\{u_n\}$ imply that $\{u_n\}$ is non-negative on the boundary, and the Trace theorem gives the conclusion.

Remark 1.14. From the first equation in the weak formulation (1.5), we can show that $u_{\epsilon} \in L^{\infty}(0,T;L^{\infty}(\Gamma))$ for each fixed ϵ , by showing that

 $||u_{\epsilon}(t)||_{L^{p}(\Gamma)} \leq C \text{ and } C \text{ does not depend on } p.$ Then, $||u_{\epsilon}(t)||_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma)}$ is bounded (see [13, Proposition 1.16]). This property allows us to use some convergence theorems in the next chapter. A notice is that the upper bound for u_{ϵ} on $\Gamma \times (0,T)$ may vary on ϵ .

Remark 1.15. In the following chapter, we will call the weak solution of system (2) by "the solution of system (2)", for short.

Chapter 2

FAST REACTION LIMITS

In this chapter, we will study the convergence of solutions to the system (2) as $\epsilon \to 0$, i.e., the reaction rate constant $1/\epsilon$ tends to infinity. In detail, we will show that for arbitrary positive integers α, β , the sequence of weak solutions $\{(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})\}$ has a subsequence that converges strongly in $L^2(0, T; L^2(\Omega) \times L^2(\Gamma))$. About the limit of the convergence, we will describe later in Chapter 3.

2.1 The main theorem and outline of proof

The following lemma is the main result about the fast reaction limit of system (2) as the reaction rate tends to infinity.

Theorem 2.1 (Convergence of subsequence). Let $(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$ be the weak solution of system (2) with parameter ϵ and non-negative initial value $(u_0, v_0) \in L^{\infty}(\Omega) \times L^{\infty}(\Gamma)$ (from Theorem 1.11). Then, as $\epsilon \to 0$, the sequence $\{(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})\}$ has a subsequence that converges strongly in $L^2(0, T; L^2(\Omega) \times L^2(\Gamma))$ to (w, z), where $z = (w|_{\Gamma})^{\alpha/\beta}$ and w is a weak solution to (3) (we will define it in Chapter 3).

Remark 2.1. In the theorem, we only have the convergence for subsequence, not the whole sequence. To show that the whole sequence converges,

it is sufficient to prove the uniqueness of the limit, was shown for the case $\alpha = \beta$ in [6]. However, for the general case, we do not have that.

Now, we will sketch the proof of Theorem 2.1. The proof utilizes the Aubin–Lions Lemma on well-constructed product spaces.

Sketch of the proof of Theorem 2.1. By Lemma 2.1, we have the uniform boundedness of $(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$ in $L^{\infty}(0, T; L^{\infty}(\Omega) \times L^{\infty}(\Gamma))$. Moreover, according to Lemma 2.2, we have the gradient $(\nabla u_{\epsilon}, \nabla_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon})$ is also uniformly bounded in $L^2(0, T; L^2(\Omega) \times L^2(\Gamma))$. Therefore, combine these two lemmas, we have $(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$ in a bounded subset of $L^2(0, T; H^1(\Omega) \times H^1(\Gamma))$. On the other hand, Lemma 2.3 shows that there exist a functional space Zsuch that $Z \hookrightarrow L^2(\Omega) \times L^2(\Gamma) \hookrightarrow Z^*$ with compact and continuous embedding, respectively, and time derivative $\partial_t(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$ is bounded (uniformly) in $L^2(0, T; Z^*)$. Then, in the view of Aubin–Lions Lemma (see Lemma 1.1 and its remark), there exists a subsequence of $\{(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})\}$ that it converges strongly in $L^2(0, T; L^2(\Omega) \times L^2(\Gamma))$ as $\epsilon \to 0$, and we denote its limit by (w, z). Finally, in Theorem 3.1, we show that $z = (w|_{\Gamma})^{\alpha/\beta}$ and w is a weak solution of the limit problem (3).

We will present in detail the proof of these lemmas with the following structure. Section 2.2 shows the detailed proof for Lemma 2.1, then Lemma 2.2 about the boundedness of the gradient is presented in Section 2.3, and finally, the functional space for the time derivative is presented in Section 2.4. And, in Chapter 3, we will present the proof of Theorem 3.1, which discuss about the limit system and its weak solutions.

2.2 Uniform boundedness of the solution

In this section, we prove that the solution of the system (2) is uniformly bounded in $L^{\infty}(\Omega) \times L^{\infty}(\Gamma)$. **Lemma 2.1.** Let $(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$ be the weak solution of the system (2), correspond to parameter ϵ and the non-negative initial condition $(u_0, v_0) \in L^{\infty}(\Omega) \times L^{\infty}(\Gamma)$, we have the upper bound

$$\|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;L^{\infty}(\Omega))}, \|v_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;L^{\infty}(\Gamma))} \le M,$$

where M is a constant that does not depend on ϵ .

To prove this lemma, we will declare an L^p -energy functional that based on the structure of the system and this function is decreasing in time. Then, it leads to a prior estimation that holds for all p. Finally, due to the boundedness of initial condition, we can show an uniform estimation for L^p -norm of the solution. Therefore, we obtain the bounded for the solution in L^{∞} - norm.

Proof. We introduce the following entropy function

$$E_p[u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon}](t) := \frac{1}{p\alpha^2 + \alpha} \int_{\Omega} u_{\epsilon}^{p\alpha + 1}(t) dx + \frac{1}{p\beta^2 + \beta} \int_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon}^{p\beta + 1}(t) dS, \quad (2.1)$$

where the parameter p is a positive integer. We first have the identity

$$\frac{d}{dt} \int_{\Omega} u_{\epsilon}^{p\alpha+1}(t) dx = (p\alpha+1) \langle \partial_t u_{\epsilon}(t), u_{\epsilon}^{p\alpha}(t) \rangle_{\Omega}$$

for a.e. $t \in [0, T]$. Then, by choosing $u_{\epsilon}^{p\alpha}$ as the test function in the first equation of (1.5), we obtain

$$\frac{d}{dt} \int_{\Omega} \frac{u_{\epsilon}^{p\alpha+1}}{p\alpha^2 + \alpha} dx = \frac{-d_u}{\alpha} \int_{\Omega} \nabla u_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla (u_{\epsilon}^{p\alpha}) dx - \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma} (u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta}) u_{\epsilon}^{p\alpha} dS$$
$$= -d_u p \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_{\epsilon}|^2 u_{\epsilon}^{p\alpha-1} dx - \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma} (u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta}) u_{\epsilon}^{p\alpha} dS$$

By a similar argument, we have

$$\frac{d}{dt} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{v_{\epsilon}^{p\beta+1}}{p\beta^2+\beta} dS = -d_v p \int_{\Gamma} |\nabla_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon}|^2 v_{\epsilon}^{p\beta-1} dS + \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma} (u^{\alpha} - v^{\beta}) v_{\epsilon}^{p\beta} dS.$$

Combine these above, we obtain

$$\frac{d}{dt}E_p(t) = -d_u p \int_{\Omega} u_{\epsilon}^{p\alpha-1} |\nabla u_{\epsilon}|^2 dx - d_v p \int_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon}^{p\beta-1} |\nabla_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon}|^2 dS
+ \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma} (u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta}) (v_{\epsilon}^{p\beta} - u_{\epsilon}^{p\alpha}) dS.$$
(2.2)

Notice that

$$(u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta})(v_{\epsilon}^{p\beta} - u_{\epsilon}^{p\alpha}) = (u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta})(v_{\epsilon}^{\beta} - u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha})\left(\sum_{i+j=p-1}^{i\alpha} u_{\epsilon}^{i\alpha}v_{\epsilon}^{j\beta}\right),$$

where p is a positive integer. Combine with the fact that $(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$ is non-negative, we have the estimate:

$$\frac{d}{dt}E_p(t) \le 0 \tag{2.3}$$

for all $p \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ and a.e. $t \in [0, T]$. Fixed a $t_0 \in [0, T]$, we have

$$E_p(t_0) \le E_p(0)$$

or equivalently,

$$\frac{1}{p\alpha^2 + \alpha} \int_{\Omega} u_{\epsilon}^{p\alpha+1}(t_0) dx + \frac{1}{p\beta^2 + \beta} \int_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon}^{p\beta+1}(t_0) dS$$
$$\leq \frac{1}{p\alpha^2 + \alpha} \int_{\Omega} u_0^{p\alpha+1} dx + \frac{1}{p\beta^2 + \beta} \int_{\Gamma} v_0^{p\beta+1} dS \quad (2.4)$$

for all $p \in \mathbb{Z}^+$. From (2.4), multiply both sides by p, we get

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{\alpha^2 + \alpha/p} \int_{\Omega} u_{\epsilon}^{p\alpha+1}(t_0) dx &+ \frac{1}{\beta^2 + \beta/p} \int_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon}^{p\beta+1}(t_0) dS \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\alpha^2 + \alpha/p} \int_{\Omega} u_0^{p\alpha+1} dx + \frac{1}{\beta^2 + \beta/p} \int_{\Gamma} v_0^{p\beta+1} dS, \end{aligned}$$

which implies an estimate in which the coefficients of integrals do not de-

pend on \boldsymbol{p}

$$\frac{1}{2\alpha^2} \int_{\Omega} u_{\epsilon}^{p\alpha+1}(t_0) dx + \frac{1}{2\beta^2} \int_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon}^{p\beta+1}(t_0) dS \le \int_{\Omega} u_0^{p\alpha+1} dx + \int_{\Gamma} v_0^{p\beta+1} dS$$

Taking the root of power p on both sides of the above estimate, we have:

$$\left(\frac{1}{2\alpha^2} \int_{\Omega} u_0^{p\alpha+1}(t_0) dx + \frac{1}{2\beta^2} \int_{\Gamma} v_0^{p\beta+1}(t_0) dS\right)^{1/p} \le \left(\int_{\Omega} u_0^{p\alpha+1} dx + \int_{\Gamma} v_0^{p\beta+1} dS\right)^{1/p}$$
(2.5)

The right hand side of (2.5) can be estimated uniformly by

$$\left(\int_{\Omega} u_{0}^{p\alpha+1} dx + \int_{\Gamma} v_{0}^{p\beta+1} dS \right)^{1/p} \leq \left(|\Omega| \cdot ||u_{0}||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}^{p\alpha+1} + |\Gamma| \cdot ||v_{0}||_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma)}^{p\beta+1} \right)^{1/p} \\
\leq |\Omega|^{1/p} \cdot ||u_{0}||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}^{(p\alpha+1)/p} + |\Gamma|^{1/p} \cdot ||v_{0}||_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma)}^{(p\beta+1)/p} \\
\leq \max\{1, |\Omega|\} \cdot \max\{1, ||u_{0}||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}^{2\alpha}\} \\
+ \max\{1, |\Gamma|\} \cdot \max\{1, ||v_{0}||_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma)}^{2\beta}\} \\
\leq C_{1}(\alpha, \beta, |\Omega|, |\Gamma|, ||u_{0}||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}, ||v_{0}||_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma)}),$$
(2.6)

where the second inequality is deduced from the fact that $(a+b)^{\theta} \leq a^{\theta} + b^{\theta}$ for all $a, b \geq 0$ and $\theta \in (0, 1]$. Combine the estimations (2.5) and (2.6), we have the estimate

$$\left(\frac{1}{2\alpha^2}\int_{\Omega} u_{\epsilon}^{p\alpha+1}(t_0)dx\right)^{1/p} \le C_1$$

or

$$\left(\int_{\Omega} u_{\epsilon}^{p\alpha+1}(t_0) dx\right)^{1/p} \le C_2 \tag{2.7}$$

for all $p \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ and C_1, C_2 are constants that do not depend on ϵ . This implies

$$||u_{\epsilon}(t_0)||_{L^{p\alpha+1}(\Omega)} \le C_2^{\frac{p}{p\alpha+1}}.$$

Letting $p \to \infty$ yields

$$|u_{\epsilon}(t_0)||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \le C_2^{1/\alpha}.$$

Similarly, we also get

$$\|v_{\epsilon}(t_0)\|_{L^{\infty}(\Gamma)} \le C_3^{1/\beta},$$

which end the proof.

Remark 2.2. With similar arguments, we also can prove that the solution also has a strictly positive lower bound for the case $\alpha = \beta$, which is independent of ϵ , and showing that $(\frac{1}{u_{\epsilon}}, \frac{1}{v_{\epsilon}})$ is bounded uniformly from above. The difference in the proof is that we substitute $(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$ by $(\frac{1}{u_{\epsilon}}, \frac{1}{v_{\epsilon}})$ in the entropy function (we also need to modify the coefficients of integrals), we add a small constant δ to u_{ϵ} and v_{ϵ} which avoid the blow-up during calculation and then take the limit $\delta \to 0$ by using the convergence theorems in Chapter 1.

From the remark above, we have the following proposition about lower boundedness of the solution

Proposition 2.1. Assume that $\alpha = \beta$ and the initial condition $(u_0, v_0) \in L^{\infty}(\Omega) \times L^{\infty}(\Gamma)$ is bounded from below by a positive constant m_0 , that is, $u_0(x) \ge m_0$ a.e. $x \in \Omega$ and $v_0(x) \ge m_0$ a.e. $x \in \Gamma$. Then, the solution of (2) $u_{\epsilon}(x,t) \ge m$ for a.e. $(x,t) \in \Omega \times (0,T)$ and $v_{\epsilon}(x,t) \ge m$ for a.e. $(x,t) \in \Gamma \times (0,T)$, where the constant m > 0 and does not depend on ϵ .

Proof. Similarly, we introduce another entropy function, with parameter $p \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ and a small constant $\delta > 0$

$$H_{p,\delta}[u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon}](t) := \frac{\beta}{\alpha p - 1} \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{(u_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{\alpha p - 1}} dx + \frac{\alpha}{\beta p - 1} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{1}{(v_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{\beta p - 1}} dS.$$

Since $(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$ is non-negative and the constants $\alpha, \beta, p \ge 1$, we have the positivity $H_{p,\delta}[u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon}](t) > 0$. With a similar calculation for the time derivative

_	_	_

of entropy function as Lemma 2.1, we can show that for a.e. $t \in [0, T]$:

$$\frac{d}{dt}H_{p,\delta}(t) = \beta \int_{\Omega} \nabla u_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla (u_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{-\alpha p} dx + \alpha \int_{\Gamma} \nabla_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla_{\Gamma} (v_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{-\beta p} dS + \frac{\alpha \beta}{\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma} (u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta}) ((u_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{-\alpha p} - (v_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{-\beta p}) dS.$$

Fixed a $t_0 \in [0, T]$ and take the integration from 0 to t_0 , we have:

$$\begin{split} H_{p,\delta}(t_0) - H_{p,\delta}(0) &= \beta \int_0^{t_0} \int_{\Omega} \nabla (u_{\epsilon} + \delta) \cdot \nabla (u_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{-\alpha p} dx dt \\ &+ \alpha \int_0^{t_0} \int_{\Gamma} \nabla_{\Gamma} (v_{\epsilon} + \delta) \cdot \nabla_{\Gamma} (v_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{-\beta p} dS dt \\ &+ \frac{\alpha \beta}{\epsilon} \int_0^{t_0} \int_{\Gamma} (u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta}) ((u_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{-\alpha p} - (v_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{-\beta p}) dS st \\ &\leq \frac{\alpha \beta}{\epsilon} \int_0^{t_0} \int_{\Gamma} (u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta}) ((u_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{-\alpha p} - (v_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{-\beta p}) dS dt. \end{split}$$

From the assumption $\alpha = \beta$, the right hand side of the above inequality is non-negative, which implies:

$$H_{p,\delta}(t_0) \le H_{p,\delta}(0)$$

for all δ . Then, by using Monotone Convergence Theorem to take the limit of $\delta \to 0^+$, we get:

$$0 \leq \frac{\beta}{\alpha p - 1} \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{u_{\epsilon}(t_0)^{\alpha p - 1}} dx + \frac{\alpha}{\beta p - 1} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{1}{v_{\epsilon}(t_0)^{\beta p - 1}} dS$$
$$\leq \frac{\beta}{\alpha p - 1} \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{u_0^{\alpha p - 1}} dx + \frac{\alpha}{\beta p - 1} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{1}{v_0^{\beta p - 1}} dS.$$

Since u_0, v_0 has a strictly positive lower bound, by using similar arguments in the proof of Lemma 2.1, we have:

$$\left(\int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha p-1}(t_0)} dx\right)^{1/p}, \left(\int_{\Gamma} \frac{1}{v_{\epsilon}^{\beta p-1}(t_0)} dS\right)^{1/p}$$

bounded (uniformly in term of p and ϵ). And from the fact that $(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$ bounded uniformly, we have for any $p \geq 2$:

$$\|u_{\epsilon}^{-\alpha}(t_0)\|_{L^p(\Omega)} \le M_2$$

and

$$\|v_{\epsilon}^{-\beta}(t_0)\|_{L^p(\Gamma)} \le M_3$$

where the constant M_2, M_3 does not depend on ϵ and p. Then, with a similar argument at the end of proof for Lemma 2.1, we can show that $(\frac{1}{u_{\epsilon}}, \frac{1}{v_{\epsilon}})$ is bounded above or $(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$ has a lower bound m > 0, where the constant m doesn't depend on ϵ .

Remark 2.3. This property will be used in the next chapter, where we discuss on the convergence rate and we require the strictly positive of the solution $(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$. In the proof, we need to assume that the coefficient $\alpha = \beta$ to have the sign of the term $(u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta})((u_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{-\alpha p} - (v_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{-\beta p})$. A question is, can we have the same result if we remove this assumption, which seems to be quite complicated since it is quite difficult to have any estimation for this term to use the convergence theorems.

2.3 Boundedness of gradient operator

Next, we will prove that the (spatial) gradients of the solution are uniformly bounded.

Lemma 2.2. With $(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$ as the solution of (2), we have the estimate:

$$\|\nabla u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega))}, \|\nabla_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Gamma))} \leq M_{D}$$

with a constant M_D does not depend on ϵ .

Proof. We consider the logarithm entropy function (see [10]):

$$E[u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon}](t) = \int_{\Omega} u_{\epsilon} (\log u_{\epsilon} - 1) dx + \int_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon} (\log v_{\epsilon} - 1) dS, \qquad (2.8)$$

where $\log(x)$ is the natural logarithm of the positive number x. Formally, we have the dissipation of entropy function $D(t) = \frac{-d}{dt}E(t) = \langle -\partial_t u_{\epsilon}, \log(u_{\epsilon}) \rangle_{\Omega} + \langle -\partial_t v_{\epsilon}, \log(v_{\epsilon}) \rangle_{\Gamma}$ and then choose $\log(u_{\epsilon})$ (and $\log(v_{\epsilon})$, respectively) as the test functions. However, we don't have a lower bound for u_{ϵ} and v_{ϵ} , in generally, which means that $\log(u_{\epsilon})$ and $\log(v_{\epsilon})$ do not belong to $L^2(\Omega)$ and $L^2(\Gamma)$, respectively. A naive idea is adding the assumption that the solution $(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$ is strictly positive. Fortunately, there is a way to avoid this assumption by using a similar technique in [5] (we will present the theorem if we have the strictly positive assumption in the remark below). Indeed, we replace u_{ϵ} (and v_{ϵ}) by $u_{\epsilon} + \delta$ (and $v_{\epsilon} + \delta$), with δ is a small parameter and taking the limit $\delta \to 0$.

Again, we introduce the modified entropy function:

$$E_{\delta}[u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon}](t) = \int_{\Omega} (u_{\epsilon} + \delta)(\log(u_{\epsilon} + \delta) - 1)dx + \int_{\Gamma} (v_{\epsilon} + \delta)(\log(v_{\epsilon} + \delta) - 1)dS.$$
(2.9)

With a similar calculation for the time derivative entropy function, we have the dissipation function:

$$D_{\delta}(t) = -\frac{d}{dt} E_{\delta}(t)$$

= $\langle \partial_t (u_{\epsilon} + \delta), -\log(u_{\epsilon} + \delta) \rangle_{\Omega}$
+ $\langle \partial_t (v_{\epsilon} + \delta), -\log(v_{\epsilon} + \delta) \rangle_{\Gamma}$
= $\langle \partial_t (v_{\epsilon}), -\log(u_{\epsilon} + \delta) \rangle_{\Omega} + \langle \partial_t (v_{\epsilon}), -\log(v_{\epsilon} + \delta) \rangle_{\Gamma},$

for a.e. $t \in [0,T]$ and δ is a small, positive constant. Then, by choosing

the logarithm of solution $(-\log(u_{\epsilon} + \delta), -\log(v_{\epsilon} + \delta))$ as the test function in weak formulation (1.5), we have

$$\begin{split} D_{\delta}(t) &= -d_{u} \int_{\Omega} \nabla u_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla (\log(u_{\epsilon} + \delta)) dx + \frac{\alpha}{\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma} (u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta}) \log(u_{\epsilon} + \delta) dS \\ &- d_{v} \int_{\Gamma} \nabla_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla_{\Gamma} (\log(v_{\epsilon} + \delta)) dS - \frac{\beta}{\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma} (u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta}) \log(v_{\epsilon} + \delta) dS \\ &= d_{u} \int_{\Omega} \frac{|\nabla u_{\epsilon}|^{2}}{u_{\epsilon} + \delta} dx + d_{v} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{|\nabla_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon}|^{2}}{v_{\epsilon} + \delta} dS + \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma} (u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta}) \log \frac{(u_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{\alpha}}{(v_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{\beta}} dS. \end{split}$$

Then, by integrating $D_{\delta}(t)$ from 0 to T, we get

$$E_{\delta}(0) - E_{\delta}(T) = \int_{0}^{T} D_{\delta}(t) dt$$

=
$$\int_{0}^{T} \left(d_{u} \int_{\Omega} \frac{|\nabla u_{\epsilon}|^{2}}{u_{\epsilon} + \delta} dx + d_{v} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{|\nabla_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon}|^{2}}{v_{\epsilon} + \delta} dS \right) dt$$

+
$$\int_{0}^{T} \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma} (u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta}) \log \frac{(u_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{\alpha}}{(v_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{\beta}} dS dt.$$

We can rewrite the above equation to:

$$\int_{0}^{T} \left(d_{u} \int_{\Omega} \frac{|\nabla u_{\epsilon}|^{2}}{u_{\epsilon} + \delta} dx + d_{v} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{|\nabla_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon}|^{2}}{v_{\epsilon} + \delta} dS \right) dt = E_{\delta}(0) - E_{\delta}(T) + \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Gamma} (v_{\epsilon}^{\beta} - u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha}) \log \frac{(u_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{\alpha}}{(v_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{\beta}} dS$$

From the fact that the initial condition (u_0, v_0) is bounded, we have $E_{\delta}(0)$ can be bounded uniformly (choose $\delta < 1$). Moreover, $E_{\delta}(T)$ has a lower bound without depending on δ . Therefore, $E_{\delta}(0) - E_{\delta}(T)$ is bounded and we have the estimate:

$$d_{u} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega} \frac{|\nabla u_{\epsilon}|^{2}}{u_{\epsilon} + \delta} dx dt + d_{v} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{|\nabla_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon}|^{2}}{v_{\epsilon} + \delta} dS dt$$

$$\leq C + \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Gamma} (v_{\epsilon}^{\beta} - u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha}) \log \frac{(u_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{\alpha}}{(v_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{\beta}} dS, \quad (2.10)$$

with C is a constant that does not depend on δ and also ϵ . Now, similar

to [5], we can use the convergence theorem to take the limit $\delta \to 0^+$. Indeed, the left hand side can be taken limit $\delta \to 0^+$ by using Monotone Convergence Theorem (Theorem 1.3)

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\delta \to 0} \left(d_u \int_0^T \int_\Omega \frac{|\nabla u_\epsilon|^2}{u_\epsilon + \delta} dx + d_v \int_0^T \int_\Gamma \frac{|\nabla_\Gamma v_\epsilon|^2}{v_\epsilon + \delta} dS \, dt \right) \\ &= d_u \int_0^T \int_\Omega \frac{|\nabla u_\epsilon|^2}{u_\epsilon} dx dt + d_v \int_0^T \int_\Gamma \frac{|\nabla_\Gamma v_\epsilon|^2}{v_\epsilon} dS dt \end{split}$$

Now, we only need to work with the term containing logarithm. Since the solution $(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$ is non-negative and bounded, this term has an upper bound (for each fixed ϵ):

$$(v_{\epsilon}^{\beta} - u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha})\log(u_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{\alpha} = \alpha v_{\epsilon}^{\beta}\log(u_{\epsilon} + \delta) - \alpha u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha}\log(u_{\epsilon} + \delta) \le C,$$

where the constant C does not depend on δ . Similarly, we have

$$(-v_{\epsilon}^{\beta}+u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha})\log(v_{\epsilon}+\delta)^{\beta} \leq C,$$

which implies that $(v_{\epsilon}^{\beta} - u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha}) \log \frac{(u_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{\alpha}}{(v_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{\beta}}$ has an upper bound. Then, we can use Fatou's lemma for a function that has upper bounded (see Theorem 1.2 and its remark)

$$\begin{split} \limsup_{\delta \to 0} \int_0^T \int_{\Gamma} (v_{\epsilon}^{\beta} - u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha}) \log \frac{(u_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{\alpha}}{(v_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{\beta}} dS \\ &\leq \int_0^T \int_{\Gamma} \limsup_{\delta \to 0} (v_{\epsilon}^{\beta} - u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha}) \log \frac{(u_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{\alpha}}{(v_{\epsilon} + \delta)^{\beta}} dS \\ &= \int_0^T \int_{\Gamma} (v_{\epsilon}^{\beta} - u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha}) \log \frac{(u_{\epsilon})^{\alpha}}{(v_{\epsilon})^{\beta}} dS \leq 0. \end{split}$$

Combine these all and take the limit $\delta \to 0^+$ of (2.10), we obtain the uniform estimation

$$d_u \int_0^T \int_\Omega \frac{|\nabla u_\epsilon|^2}{u_\epsilon} dx dt + d_v \int_0^T \int_\Gamma \frac{|\nabla_\Gamma v_\epsilon|^2}{v_\epsilon} dS dt \le C,$$

where C is a constant that does not depend on ϵ . Since $d_u, d_v > 0$ and the solution $(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$ is non-negative, we obtain

$$\int_0^T \int_\Omega \frac{|\nabla u_\epsilon|^2}{u_\epsilon} dx dt \le C,$$
$$\int_0^T \int_\Gamma \frac{|\nabla_\Gamma v_\epsilon|^2}{v_\epsilon} dS dt \le C,$$

where constant C doesn't depend on ϵ .

Finally, from the fact that $(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$ is bounded uniformly in Lemma 2.1, we show that the gradient is also bounded uniformly:

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega))}^{2} &= \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_{\epsilon}|^{2} dx dt \\ &= \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega} \frac{|\nabla u_{\epsilon}|^{2}}{u_{\epsilon}} (u_{\epsilon}) dx dt \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{T} \|u_{\epsilon}(t)\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \int_{\Omega} \frac{|\nabla u_{\epsilon}|^{2}}{u_{\epsilon}} dx dt \\ &\leq \|u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T;L^{\infty}(\Omega))} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega} \frac{|\nabla u_{\epsilon}|^{2}}{u_{\epsilon}} dx dt \\ &\leq M_{D} \end{aligned}$$

with a constant M_D is independent to ϵ . By a similar argument, we also get

$$\|\nabla_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon}\|_{L^2(0,T;L^2(\Gamma))}^2 \le M_D,$$

which concludes the proof.

Remark 2.4. As mentioned above, we can still use the entropy function (2.8) without modification if we add an assumption that the solution $(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$ is strictly positive. Moreover, we can do it in a more simple way by choosing $(u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha}, v_{\epsilon}^{\beta})$ as the test function and using the fact that $u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon}$ is non-negative and bounded uniformly. Indeed, we start with the time derivative of entropy function (2.2) in the proof of Lemma 2.1, and choose the parameter p = 1

to get

$$d_u \int_{\Omega} u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha-1} |\nabla u_{\epsilon}|^2 dx + d_v \int_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon}^{\beta-1} |\nabla_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon}|^2 dS + \frac{d}{dt} E_1(t)$$
$$= \frac{1}{\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma} (u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta}) (v_{\epsilon}^{\beta} - u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha}) dS$$

for a.e. $t \in [0,T]$ and entropy function E_1 is defined by

$$E_1(t) := \frac{1}{\alpha^2 + \alpha} \int_{\Omega} u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha + 1}(t) dx + \frac{1}{\beta^2 + \beta} \int_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon}^{\beta + 1}(t) dS$$

Then, by integrating both sides from 0 to T and using the fact that the right-hand side is non-positive, we have the estimatation

$$d_u \int_0^T \int_\Omega u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha-1} |\nabla u_{\epsilon}|^2 dx dt + d_v \int_0^T \int_\Gamma v_{\epsilon}^{\beta-1} |\nabla_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon}|^2 dS dt \le E_1(0) - E_1(T).$$
(2.11)

The lower boundedness of $(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$ allows us to estimate the left hand side by

$$\begin{aligned} d_u \int_0^T \int_\Omega u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha-1} |\nabla u_{\epsilon}|^2 dx dt \,+\, d_v \int_0^T \int_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon}^{\beta-1} |\nabla_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon}|^2 dS dt \\ \geq d_u m^{\alpha-1} \|\nabla u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^2(0,T;L^2(\Omega))} + d_v m^{\beta-1} \|\nabla_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon}\|_{L^2(0,T;L^2(\Gamma))}, \end{aligned}$$

with constant m > 0 is the lower bound of $(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$, that is, for a.e. $t \in (0,T)$, $u_{\epsilon}(x,t) \geq m$ on Ω and $v_{\epsilon}(x,t) \geq m$ on Γ . On the other hand, the right-hand side of (2.11) is bounded since $(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$ is bounded. Therefore, we have the conclusion

$$\|\nabla u_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega))}, \|\nabla_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon}\|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Gamma))} \leq M_{D}.$$

In this case, we can prove that the gradient is bounded without using the assumption that the solution has a strictly lower bound. However, in some cases, we will need this condition.

2.4 Functional space for time derivative

We finish this chapter by showing that there exists a suitable functional space for the time derivative of solution $\partial_t(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$, where the Aubin–Lions lemma is applicable. Therefore, combine with Lemma 2.1 and Lemma 2.2, the sequence of solution $\{(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})\}$ has a subsequence that converges strongly in $L^2(0, T; L^2(\Omega) \times L^2(\Gamma))$.

Lemma 2.3. There exists a Banach space Z such that the embedding of Z into $L^2(\Omega) \times L^2(\Gamma)$ is compact and $\partial_t(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$ is bounded (uniformly with respect to ϵ) in the space $L^2(0, T; Z^*)$.

Proof. First, we recall a weak formulation, which have been mentioned in Chapter 1:

$$\langle \partial_t u_{\epsilon}, \varphi \rangle_{\Omega} + \int_{\Omega} d_u \nabla u_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla \varphi dx = -\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma} (u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta}) \varphi dS, \qquad (2.12)$$

$$\langle \partial_t v_{\epsilon}, \psi \rangle_{\Gamma} + \int_{\Gamma} d_v \nabla_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla_{\Gamma} \psi dS = \frac{\beta}{\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma} (u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta}) \psi dS.$$
(2.13)

Since our target is to estimate the time derivative by a constant without dependence on ϵ , we would like to remove the right hand sides of these equality by adding the two equations above. To do it, we define a new functional space for the test function

$$Z := \{ (\phi, \phi|_{\Gamma}) : \phi \in H^1(\Omega) \text{ and } \phi|_{\Gamma} \in H^1(\Gamma) \}, \qquad (2.14)$$

and inherited the norm and inner product of $H^1(\Omega) \times H^1(\Gamma)$

$$\|(\phi,\phi|_{\Gamma})\|_{Z} := \|\phi\|_{H^{1}(\Omega)} + \|\phi|_{\Gamma}\|_{H^{1}(\Gamma)}, \qquad (2.15)$$

$$\left((\phi_1,\phi_1|_{\Gamma}),(\phi_2,\phi_2|_{\Gamma})\right)_Z := (\phi_1,\phi_2)_{H^1(\Omega)} + (\phi_1|_{\Gamma},\phi_2|_{\Gamma})_{H^1(\Gamma)}.$$
 (2.16)

The functional space Z can be shown that it is a closed subspace of $H^1(\Omega) \times$

 $H^1(\Gamma)$, so it is a Hilbert space. More detail about this functional space can be seen at [24] and its references. Besides, we have that the functional space Z is compactly embedded in $L^2(\Omega) \times L^2(\Gamma)$. So, we only need to prove that the time derivative is bounded in $L^2(0,T;Z^*)$. Choose $(\varphi,\varphi|_{\Gamma}) \in Z$ arbitrary and multiply (2.12) by β , (2.13) by α and take the sum of these and take the integration from 0 to T, we have:

$$\int_{0}^{T} \left(\int_{\Omega} \alpha \langle \partial_{t} u_{\epsilon}, \varphi \rangle_{\Omega} dx + \int_{\Gamma} \beta \langle \partial_{t} v_{\epsilon}, \varphi |_{\Gamma} \rangle_{\Gamma} dS \right) dt$$
$$= -\int_{0}^{T} \left(\int_{\Omega} \beta d_{u} \nabla u_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla \varphi dx + \int_{\Gamma} \alpha d_{v} \nabla_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla_{\Gamma} \varphi |_{\Gamma} dS \right) dt.$$
(2.17)

Setting $V := L^2(0,T;Z)$, the dual of V is V^* , which can be identified by $L^2(0,T;Z^*)$. So, the left hand side of equation (2.17) can be rewritten as the pairing between V^* and V:

$$\int_{0}^{T} \left(\int_{\Omega} \alpha \langle \partial_{t} u_{\epsilon}, \varphi \rangle_{\Omega} dx + \int_{\Gamma} \beta \langle \partial_{t} v_{\epsilon}, \varphi |_{\Gamma} \rangle_{\Gamma} dS \right) dt$$
$$= \langle \partial_{t} (\alpha u_{\epsilon}, \beta v_{\epsilon}); (\varphi, \varphi |_{\Gamma}) \rangle_{V^{*} \times V}.$$
(2.18)

Besides, the right hand side of (2.17) can be bounded in the norm of V due to the Lemma 2.2, which give the estimate:

$$\begin{split} &\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega} \beta d_{u} \nabla u_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla \varphi dx + \int_{\Gamma} \alpha d_{v} \nabla_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla_{\Gamma}(\varphi|_{\Gamma}) dS dt \\ &\leq \beta d_{u} \| \nabla u_{\epsilon} \|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega))} \| \nabla \varphi \|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega))} \\ &+ \alpha d_{v} \| \nabla_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon} \|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Gamma))} \| \nabla_{\Gamma}(\varphi|_{\Gamma}) \|_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Gamma))} \\ &\leq C(\|\varphi\|_{L^{2}(0,T;H^{1}(\Omega))} + \|\varphi|_{\Gamma} \|_{L^{2}(0,T;H^{1}(\Gamma))}) \\ &\leq C \| (\varphi, \varphi|_{\Gamma}) \|_{V}, \end{split}$$

where the first inequality given by Holder inequality. In the estimate, C is

a constant that does not depend on ϵ . Combine with (2.17) and (2.18), we have:

$$\langle \partial_t(\alpha u_\epsilon, \beta v_\epsilon); (\varphi, \varphi|_{\Gamma}) \rangle_{V^* \times V} \le C \| (\varphi, \varphi|_{\Gamma}) \|_V$$
(2.19)

for all $(\varphi, \varphi|_{\Gamma}) \in V$. Therefore, the time derivative is bounded in functional space V^* :

$$\|\partial_t(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})\|_{V^*} \le C.$$

Hence, the proof is complete.

Chapter 3

LIMIT SYSTEM AND CONVERGENCE RATE

In this chapter, we will discuss two problems: the first one is describing the limit of the (sub)sequence $\{(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})\}$ as $\epsilon \to 0$, what we have shown in the previous chapter, and the second one, where we will have a result about the convergence rate of the sequence in the case $\alpha = \beta$, which is a new result in this area.

3.1 Limit system

In this section, we will go in detail about the limit of convergence in the last chapter. As mentioned in the Introduction part, formally, we expect that the limit system is the heat equation with nonlinear dynamical boundary condition (3).

However, we only have the weak solution of (2) and the convergence only in the space $L^2(0, T; L^2(\Omega) \times L^2(\Gamma))$. So, we only expect that the limit is still the solution of (3) but in a weaker sense. Denote (w, z) the limit of a subsequence of $\{(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})\}$ that converges in $L^2(0, T; L^2(\Omega) \times L^2(\Gamma))$, we will show that w is a weak solution of the limit system (we will define the weak solution in below). To do that, we first remind that in Chapter 2, we have shown that the sequence $\{(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})\}$ have

- The existence of a subsequence that converges strongly in $L^2(0,T; L^2(\Omega) \times L^2(\Gamma));$
- The uniform boundedness of u_{ϵ} in $L^2(0,T;H^1(\Omega)) \cap L^{\infty}(0,T;L^{\infty}(\Omega))$, which implies we have the same for u_{ϵ}^{α} ;
- Both sequences v_{ϵ} and v_{ϵ}^{β} are uniformly bounded in $L^{2}(0,T;H^{1}(\Gamma)) \cap L^{\infty}(0,T;L^{\infty}(\Gamma))$.

Due to Theorem 1.8, from the uniform boundedness of a sequence of solution in certain functional spaces, we have the weak convergences of subsequences of u_{ϵ}^{α} and v_{ϵ}^{β} in the corresponding spaces. Therefore, combine with the setting of (w, z) above, there exists a subsequence $\{(u_{\epsilon_i}, v_{\epsilon_i})\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ of $\{(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})\}$ (where $\epsilon_i \to 0$ as $i \to \infty$) that satisfies

- The sequence $\{(u_{\epsilon_i}, v_{\epsilon_i})\}$ converges strongly to (w, z) as $i \to \infty$, in $L^2(0, T; L^2(\Omega) \times L^2(\Gamma));$
- The sequence $\{u_{\epsilon_i}\}$, and also $\{u_{\epsilon_i}^{\alpha}\}$ converge weakly to w and w^{α} , respectively in $L^2(0,T; H^1(\Omega))$ as $i \to \infty$;
- The sequence $\{v_{\epsilon_i}\}$ and $\{v_{\epsilon_i}^\beta\}$ converge weakly to z and z^β , respectively in $L^2(0,T; H^1(\Gamma))$ as $i \to \infty$.

So, to work with the limit (w, z), we can consider that it is the limit of $\{(u_{\epsilon_i}, v_{\epsilon_i})\}$ as $i \to 0$. Now, we will give the definition of weak solution of the limit system (3).

Definition 3.1. We call w a weak solution of problem (3) if it satisfies the regular condition

$$w \in C([0,T]; L^2(\Omega)) \text{ and } w \in L^{\infty}(0,T; L^{\infty}(\Omega)) \cap L^2(0,T; H^1(\Omega));$$

and it satisfies the following weak formulation

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega} -w\varphi_{t} + \nabla w \cdot \nabla \varphi dx dt
+ \frac{\alpha}{\beta} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Gamma} -(w|_{\Gamma})^{\alpha/\beta} (\varphi|_{\Gamma})_{t} + \nabla_{\Gamma} (w|_{\Gamma}^{\alpha/\beta}) \cdot \nabla_{\Gamma} (\varphi|_{\Gamma}) dS dt \qquad (3.1)
= \int_{\Omega} u_{0} \varphi(0) dx + \frac{\alpha}{\beta} \int_{\Gamma} v_{0} \varphi|_{\Gamma}(0) dS$$

where the test function $(\varphi, \varphi|_{\Gamma}) \in C^1([0, T], H^1(\Omega) \times H^1(\Gamma))$ and $\varphi(T) = 0$ (which means $\varphi|_{\Gamma}(T) = 0$, also). Moreover, the trace function $z^{\beta}(t) = w^{\alpha}|_{\Gamma}(t)$ (0 < t < T) is existed and satisfies the following regularity condition

$$z \in C([0,T]; L^{2}(\Gamma)) \text{ and } w \in L^{\infty}(0,T; L^{\infty}(\Gamma)) \cap L^{2}(0,T; H^{1}(\Gamma))$$

Remark 3.1. The space of test functions can be rewritten by using the functional space Z, which is defined in Lemma 2.3:

$$(\varphi, \varphi|_{\Gamma}) \in C^1([0, T]; Z).$$

Theorem 3.1 (Limit system). Denote (w, z) is the limit of a subsequence $\{(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})\}$ converges in $L^2(0, T; L^2(\Omega) \times L^2(\Gamma))$ as $\epsilon \to 0$, then w is a weak solution of (3) (in the sense of Definition 3.1). Moreover $(w|_{\Gamma})^{\alpha}(t) = z^{\beta}(t)$ for a.e. $t \in (0, T)$, so we can rewrite the limit by $(w, (w|_{\Gamma})^{\alpha/\beta})$.

Proof. The proof is similar to the case $\alpha = \beta = 1$ in the article [6]. First, we proof the identity $w^{\alpha}|_{\Gamma}(t) = z^{\beta}(t)$ by starting again with equation (2.2), choose p = 1 and take the integration from 0 to T, the uniform boundedness of $(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})$ implies

$$\frac{1}{\epsilon} \|u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta}\|_{L^{2}(\Gamma \times (0,T))}^{2} \leq C.$$

where C is independent of ϵ , which means $u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta} \to 0$ strongly in $L^{2}(\Gamma \times (0,T))$. Then, we have the weak convergence $u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta} \to 0$ in the same

functional space, or in other words

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{\Gamma} (u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta}) \eta dS = 0$$

for all $\eta \in L^2(\Gamma \times (0,T))$. Now, we restrict to the subsequence $\{(u_{\epsilon_i}, v_{\epsilon_i})\}$, i.e., we have:

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} \int_{\Gamma} (u^{\alpha}_{\epsilon_i} - v^{\beta}_{\epsilon_i}) \eta dS = 0.$$
(3.2)

On the other hand, we have the weak convergence

$$\begin{cases} u_{\epsilon_i}^{\alpha} \rightharpoonup w^{\alpha} \in L^2(0,T; H^1(\Omega)), \\ v_{\epsilon_i}^{\beta} \rightharpoonup z^{\beta} \in L^2(0,T; H^1(\Gamma)). \end{cases}$$

Due to Trace Theorem, it implies

$$\begin{cases} u^{\alpha}_{\epsilon_i} \rightharpoonup w^{\alpha} \in L^2(0,T;L^2(\Gamma)), \\ v^{\beta}_{\epsilon_i} \rightharpoonup z^{\beta} \in L^2(0,T;L^2(\Gamma)). \end{cases}$$

So, for any $\eta \in L^2(0,T;L^2(\Gamma))$

$$\begin{cases} \lim_{i \to \infty} (u_{\epsilon_i}^{\alpha} - w^{\alpha}, \eta)_{L^2(0,T;L^2(\Gamma))} = 0, \\ \lim_{i \to \infty} (v_{\epsilon_i}^{\beta} - z^{\beta}, \eta)_{L^2(0,T;L^2(\Gamma))} = 0. \end{cases}$$

Combine these and (3.2), we can deduce

$$(w^{\alpha} - z^{\beta}, \eta)_{L^{2}(0,T;L^{2}(\Gamma))} = 0$$

for all $\eta \in L^2(0,T;L^2(\Gamma))$, which give the conclusion

$$w^{\alpha} = z^{\beta}$$

for a.e on $\Gamma \times (0,T)$. So, we can rewrite the limit (w,z) by $(w,(w|_{\Gamma})^{\alpha/\beta})$.

Next, we will complete the proof of theorem by showing that w satisfies the weak formulation (3.1). First, we recall the weak formulation (1.3) and (1.4), and choose the test function $(\varphi, \varphi|_{\Gamma}) \in C([0, T]; Z)$

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega} (-u_{\epsilon}\varphi_{t} + d_{u}\nabla u_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla\varphi) dx dt = \int_{\Omega} u_{0}\varphi(0) dx - \frac{\alpha}{\epsilon} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Gamma} (u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta})\varphi dS dt$$
(3.3)

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Gamma} (-v_{\epsilon}(\varphi|_{\Gamma})_{t} + d_{v} \nabla_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla_{\Gamma}(\varphi|_{\Gamma})) dS dt = \int_{\Gamma} v_{0} \varphi|_{\Gamma}(0) dS + \frac{\beta}{\epsilon} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Gamma} (u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta}) \varphi|_{\Gamma} dS dt$$

$$(3.4)$$

Then, multiply (3.3) by β , (3.4) by α , and take the sum, we obtain

$$\beta \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega} -u_{\epsilon} \varphi_{t} + d_{u} \nabla u_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla \varphi dx dt + \alpha \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Gamma} -v_{\epsilon} (\varphi|_{\Gamma})_{t} + d_{v} \nabla_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla_{\Gamma} (\varphi|_{\Gamma}) dS dt = \beta \int_{\Omega} u_{0} \varphi(0) dx + \alpha \int_{\Gamma} v_{0} \varphi|_{\Gamma}(0) dS.$$
(3.5)

Consider the subsequence $\{(u_{\epsilon_i}, v_{\epsilon_i})\}$ to the equation (3.5) and take the limit $i \to \infty$. The convergence of the sequence $\{(u_{\epsilon_i}, v_{\epsilon_i})\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ to $(w, (w|_{\Gamma})^{\alpha/\beta})$ gives the weak formulation (3.1), which conclude this proof. \Box

Remark 3.2. The regularity condition $(w, z) \in C([0, T]; L^2(\Omega) \times L^2(\Gamma))$ in fact is consequence of the regularities $(w, z) \in L^2(0, T; Z)$ and time derivative $\partial_t(w, z) \in L^2(0, T; Z^*)$, with Z defined in the Section 2.4 (see Theorem 1.6 and its remarks). To show that $\partial_t(w, z) \in L^2(0, T; Z^*)$, we go back to the uniform boundedness of time derivative in Lemma 2.3, then we have a subsequence of $\{(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})\}$ converges weakly in this functional space. Combine with the fact that $\{(u_{\epsilon_i}, v_{\epsilon_i})\}$ converges weakly to (w, z) in $L^2(0, T; Z)$, we can show that a subsequence of $\{\partial_t(u_{\epsilon_i}, v_{\epsilon_i})\}$ converges weakly to $\partial_t(w, z)$ in $L^2(0, T; Z^*)$ (for e.g., see [14, Section 7.5]).

Remark 3.3. Moreover, we can rewrite the weak formulation to a form similar to (1.5)

$$\langle \partial_t (w, (w|_{\Gamma})^{\alpha/\beta}); (\varphi, \varphi|_{\Gamma}) \rangle_{V^* \times V} + d_u \int_{\Omega} \nabla w \cdot \nabla \varphi dx + d_v \int_{\Gamma} \nabla_{\Gamma} (w|_{\Gamma})^{\alpha/\beta} \cdot \nabla_{\Gamma} (\varphi|_{\Gamma}) dS = 0$$
(3.6)

and test function $(\varphi, \varphi|_{\Gamma}) \in Z$.

Remark 3.4. Consequently, the limit system (3) has a weak solution, and to the best of our knowledge, there is not any results related to this type of system.

As mentioned in the last chapter, we have noticed that the convergence holds for the whole sequence if the limit is unique (e.g., see [11]). In this case, up to our knowledge, we do not have the uniqueness of the solution for (3). However, we have it hold for the case $\alpha = \beta$, shown in [6].

Theorem 3.2 ([6]). The limit system in the case $\alpha = \beta$ (see system (3.7)) has a unique weak solution, with initial condition $(u_0, v_0) \in L^2(\Omega) \times L^2(\Gamma)$.

3.2 Convergence rate

In this section, we will investigate the convergence rate. We will consider this situation since we only have the uniqueness when $\alpha = \beta$. We will use a similar technique in [7]. In this article, the authors define functions that represent the differences between the solution of the original system and limit system's solution, assuming that these systems have classical solutions with the best regularities (the solutions are smooth and bounded). In here, we assume that the initial condition belongs to functional space Z in the last chapter, which means

$$u_0 \in H^1(\Omega), v_0 \in H^1(\Gamma) \text{ and } v_0 = u_0|_{\Gamma}.$$

This kind of condition is called compatibility condition, and it leads the limit system to a heat equation with Wentzell boundary condition

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t w - d_u \Delta w = 0, & x \in \Omega, t > 0 \\ d_u \nabla w \cdot \nu = -\partial_t w + d_v \Delta_{\Gamma} w, & x \in \Gamma, t > 0 \\ w(x,0) = u_0(x), & x \in \Omega, t > 0 \\ w|_{\Gamma}(x,0) = v_0(x), & x \in \Gamma, t > 0, \end{cases}$$
(3.7)

where $(u_0, v_0) \in Z$, defined as above. We can use many results related to this type of equation. Indeed, the equation (3.7) has been proved that it has a unique solution with "nice" regularity that we require (see [24, Theorem 1]).

Proposition 3.1 ([24]). If the initial condition $(u_0, v_0) \in Z$, then the system (3.7) has an unique solution, satisfies the following regularity.

$$w \in C^{1}([0,\infty), H^{1}(\Omega)) \cap C^{1}((0,\infty), H^{2}(\Omega)) \cap C((0,\infty), H^{3}(\Omega))$$

and

$$w|_{\Gamma} \in C^{1}([0,\infty), H^{1}(\Gamma)) \cap C^{1}((0,\infty), H^{2}(\Gamma)) \cap C((0,\infty), H^{3}(\Gamma)).$$

So, the solution of (3.7) w satisfies the following weak formulation

$$\langle w_t, \varphi \rangle_{\Omega} + \langle (w|_{\Gamma})_t, \varphi |_{\Gamma} \rangle_{\Gamma} + d_u \int_{\Omega} \nabla w \cdot \nabla \varphi dx + d_v \int_{\Gamma} \nabla_{\Gamma} (w|_{\Gamma}) \cdot \nabla_{\Gamma} (\varphi|_{\Gamma}) dS = 0$$
 (3.8)

for all $\varphi \in H^1(\Omega)$ and $\varphi|_{\Gamma} \in H^1(\Gamma)$ and a.e. $t \in (0,T)$.

On the other hand, when $\alpha = \beta$, the original system has the form

$$\begin{cases} u_t - d_u \Delta u = 0, & x \in \Omega, t > 0, \\ d_u \nabla u \cdot \nu = -\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon} (u^\alpha - v^\alpha), & x \in \Gamma, t > 0, \\ \partial_t v - d_v \Delta_\Gamma v = \frac{\alpha}{\epsilon} (u^\alpha - v^\alpha), & x \in \Gamma, t > 0, \\ u(x, 0) = u_0(x) \ge 0, & x \in \Omega, \\ v(x, 0) = v_0(x) = (u_0)_{|\Gamma}(x) \ge 0, & x \in \Gamma, \end{cases}$$
(3.9)

and we use the following weak formulation:

$$\langle \partial_t u_{\epsilon}, \varphi \rangle_{\Omega} + \int_{\Omega} d_u \nabla u_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla \varphi dx = -\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma} (u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\alpha}) \varphi dS, \qquad (3.10)$$

$$\langle \partial_t v_{\epsilon}, \psi \rangle_{\Gamma} + \int_{\Gamma} d_v \nabla_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla_{\Gamma} \psi dS = \frac{\alpha}{\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma} (u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\alpha}) \psi dS, \qquad (3.11)$$

for a.e. $t \in [0,T]$ and for all $(\varphi, \psi) \in H^1(\Omega) \times H^1(\Gamma)$.

We are interested in the convergence rate for the system (3.9) converges to equation (3.7) as $\epsilon \to 0$. First, fix a small ϵ , we set

$$U(x,t) := u_{\epsilon}(x,t) - w(x,t) \quad \text{on } \Omega \times [0,T],$$
$$V(x,t) := v_{\epsilon}(x,t) - w(x,t) \quad \text{on } \Gamma \times [0,T].$$

Remark that we have: U - V = u - v a.e. on $\Gamma \times (0, T)$. We have the time derivative

$$\frac{d}{dt} \|U(t)\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 = \langle \partial_t u_\epsilon, u_\epsilon - w \rangle_\Omega - \langle \partial_t w, u_\epsilon - w \rangle_\Omega$$

for a.e. $t \in (0, T)$. Similarly, we have

$$\frac{d}{dt} \|V(t)\|_{L^2(\Gamma)}^2 = \langle \partial_t v_\epsilon, v_\epsilon - w \rangle_{\Gamma} - \langle \partial_t w, v_\epsilon - w \rangle_{\Gamma}.$$

Combine these, we get

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d}{dt} (\|U(t)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + \|V(t)\|_{L^{2}(\Gamma)}^{2}) &= \langle \partial_{t}u_{\epsilon}, u_{\epsilon} - w \rangle_{\Omega} - \langle \partial_{t}w, u_{\epsilon} - w \rangle_{\Omega} \\ &+ \langle \partial_{t}v_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon} - w \rangle_{\Gamma} - \langle \partial_{t}w, v_{\epsilon} - w \rangle_{\Gamma} \\ &= \langle \partial_{t}u_{\epsilon}, u_{\epsilon} - w \rangle_{\Omega} + \langle \partial_{t}v_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon} - w \rangle_{\Gamma} \\ &- (\langle \partial_{t}w, u_{\epsilon} - w \rangle_{\Omega} + \langle \partial_{t}w, u_{\epsilon} - w \rangle_{\Gamma}) \\ &+ \langle \partial_{t}w, u_{\epsilon} - v_{\epsilon} \rangle_{\Gamma}. \end{aligned}$$

Then, choosing the appropriate test function for weak formulation (3.8), (3.10) and (3.11), we obtain

$$\langle \partial_t u_{\epsilon}, u_{\epsilon} - w \rangle_{\Omega} = -d_u \int_{\Omega} \nabla u_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla (u_{\epsilon} - w) dx - \frac{\alpha}{\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma} (u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\alpha}) (u_{\epsilon} - w) dS,$$

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \partial_t v_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon} - w \rangle_{\Gamma} &= -d_v \int_{\Gamma} \nabla_{\Gamma} v_{\epsilon} \cdot \nabla_{\Gamma} (v_{\epsilon} - w) dS \\ &+ \frac{\alpha}{\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma} (u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\alpha}) (v_{\epsilon} - w) dS, \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \langle \partial_t w, u_{\epsilon} - w \rangle_{\Omega} + \langle \partial_t w, u_{\epsilon} - w \rangle_{\Gamma} &= -d_u \int_{\Omega} \nabla w \cdot \nabla (u_{\epsilon} - w) dx \\ &- d_v \int_{\Gamma} \nabla_{\Gamma} (w|_{\Gamma}) \cdot \nabla_{\Gamma} (u_{\epsilon} - w) dS. \end{split}$$

Combine these, we have:

$$\frac{d}{dt}(\|U(t)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2}+\|V(t)\|_{L^{2}(\Gamma)}^{2}) = -d_{u}\|\nabla(u_{\epsilon}-w)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2}-d_{v}\|\nabla(v_{\epsilon}-w)\|_{L^{2}(\Gamma)}^{2}$$
$$-\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon}\int_{\Gamma}(u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha}-v_{\epsilon}^{\alpha})(u_{\epsilon}-v_{\epsilon})dS$$
$$+\langle\partial_{t}w,u_{\epsilon}-v_{\epsilon}\rangle_{\Gamma}.$$

The first and second terms of the right-hand side are non-positive, so we only need to work with the other two. For the integral term, we have:

$$-\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma} (u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\alpha}) (u_{\epsilon} - v_{\epsilon}) dS = -\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma} (\sum_{i=0}^{\alpha-1} u_{\epsilon}^{i} v_{\epsilon}^{\alpha-1-i}) (u_{\epsilon} - v_{\epsilon}) (u_{\epsilon} - v_{\epsilon}) dS$$
$$= -\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma} (\sum_{i=0}^{\alpha-1} u_{\epsilon}^{i} v_{\epsilon}^{\alpha-1-i}) |U - V|^{2} dS.$$

We use the assumption that the initial condition is strictly positive. Then, due to Proposition 2.1, v_{ϵ} has a lower bound m > 0 that does not depend on ϵ . So, we have the estimate:

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\alpha-1} u_{\epsilon}^{i} v_{\epsilon}^{\alpha-1-i} \ge v_{\epsilon}^{\alpha-1} \ge m^{\alpha-1} > 0 \quad a.e. (0,T) \times \Gamma,$$

which implies:

$$-\frac{\alpha}{\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma} (u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\alpha}) (u_{\epsilon} - v_{\epsilon}) dS \leq \frac{-c_1}{\epsilon} \|U - V\|_{L^2(\Gamma)}^2,$$

With c_1 is a constant does not depend on ϵ . On the other hand, the regularity of w allows us to rewrite

$$\langle \partial_t w, u_\epsilon - v_\epsilon \rangle_{\Gamma} = (\partial_t w, u_\epsilon - v_\epsilon)_{L^2(\Gamma)} \le c_2 \|U - V\|_{L^2(\Gamma)},$$

Moreover, c_2 is a constant not dependent on ϵ . The above inequality holds since w_t is bounded in $L^2(\Gamma)$, $u_{\epsilon} - v_{\epsilon} = U - V$ on Γ and Holder's inequality. Combine these above, we deduce

$$\frac{d}{dt}(\|U(t)\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + \|V(t)\|_{L^{2}(\Gamma)}^{2}) \leq \frac{-c_{1}}{\epsilon}\|U - V\|_{L^{2}(\Gamma)}^{2} + c_{2}\|U - V\|_{L^{2}(\Gamma)}^{2} \\
\leq \frac{-c_{1}}{\epsilon}\|U - V\|_{L^{2}(\Gamma)}^{2} + \frac{c_{1}}{2\epsilon}\|U - V\|_{L^{2}(\Gamma)}^{2} + \frac{2c_{2}^{2}}{c_{1}}\epsilon \\
\leq c_{3}\epsilon,$$

with $c_3 = \frac{2c_2^2}{c_1}$. So for any fixed $t_0 \in [0, T]$, take the integration from 0 to t_0 and using the fact that U(0) = V(0) = 0

$$||U(t_0)||^2_{L^2(\Omega)} + ||V(t_0)||^2_{L^2(\Gamma)} \le c_3 t_0 \epsilon.$$

From the argument, we have the following theorem:

Theorem 3.3 (Convergence rate). Assume that initial condition $(u_0, v_0) \in Z$ is strictly positive, the solution of (3.9) $\{(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})\}$ converges to the solution of (3.7) as $\epsilon \to 0$ with convergence rate

$$||u(t) - w(t)||_{L^{2}(\Omega)} + ||v(t) - w|_{\Gamma}(t)||_{L^{2}(\Gamma)} \le c\sqrt{\epsilon}.$$

Remark 3.5. Notice that the positivity of the initial condition is only necessary if $\alpha > 1$. In the linear case $\alpha = 1$, the constant $c_1 = 1$ intimately, then we can remove that condition.

Remark 3.6. In Section 3.1, we have shown that $u_{\epsilon}^{\alpha} - v_{\epsilon}^{\beta}$ converges strongly to 0 with the rate $\epsilon^{1/2}$ also. Therefore, it seems that the convergence rate of $\{(u_{\epsilon}, v_{\epsilon})\}$ generally cannot exceed this rate.

CONCLUSION AND DISCUSSION

In this thesis, we have introduced the fast reaction limits for the nonlinear bulk-surface reaction-diffusion problems. In detail, we have given a result related to the open question in article [6], which is the fast reaction limit problem for the bulk-surface reaction-diffusion system, modeled by the chemical reaction (1). We have shown that the solution of the original system (2) admits a subsequence that converges strongly to the solution of (3), in the functional space $L^2(0, T; L^2(\Omega) \times L^2(\Gamma))$. Moreover, we have a result about the convergence rate, with some technical assumptions.

Due to the lack of time, there are still many open questions related to this problem. Here are some example:

- Can we have a better convergence, for example in the case α = β, the authors of [6] have shown that the convergence holds in the space L²(0, T; H¹(Ω) × H¹(Γ))? This is proved by using convergence to equilibrium, which we also have for this situation.
- Expansion for the rate function: Here, we work with $F(u, v) = u^{\alpha} v^{\beta}$, based on the mass action law. What happens if we replace it with a more general function, for example, a polynomial?
- Adding more components in the chemical reaction (1): What can we say if adding one more component in the reaction, for example

$$U \stackrel{k_1}{\longleftrightarrow} u \stackrel{k_2}{\longleftrightarrow} v_{k_2}$$

with U are on Ω while u and v are located on Γ ? The question here is what can we conclude about the fast reaction limit if $k_2 > 0$ is fixed and k_1 tends to infinity. The well-posedness of the system have been proved in [9]

• Can we remove any assumption in the convergence rate question?

REFERENCES

- L. Michaelis, M. L. Menten, et al., "Die kinetik der invertinwirkung," Biochem. z, vol. 49, no. 333-369, p. 352, 1913.
- [2] E. H. Flach and S. Schnell, "Use and abuse of the quasi-steady-state approximation," *IEE Proceedings-Systems Biology*, vol. 153, no. 4, pp. 187–191, 2006.
- [3] L. C. Evans, "A convergence theorem for a chemical diffusion-reaction system," *Houston J. Math*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 259–267, 1980.
- [4] E. S. Daus, L. Desvillettes, and A. Jüngel, "Cross-diffusion systems and fast-reaction limits," *Bulletin des Sciences Mathématiques*, vol. 159, p. 102824, 2020.
- [5] J. Fischer, "Global existence of renormalized solutions to entropydissipating reaction-diffusion systems," Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis, vol. 218, pp. 553–587, 2015.
- [6] F. Henneke and B. Q. Tang, "Fast reaction limit of a volume–surface reaction–diffusion system towards a heat equation with dynamical boundary conditions," *Asymptotic Analysis*, vol. 98, no. 4, pp. 325– 339, 2016.
- M. Iida, M. Mimura, and H. Ninomiya, "Diffusion, cross-diffusion and competitive interaction," *Journal of mathematical biology*, vol. 53, no. 4, pp. 617–641, 2006.

- [8] J. Betschinger, K. Mechtler, and J. A. Knoblich, "The par complex directs asymmetric cell division by phosphorylating the cytoskeletal protein lgl," *nature*, vol. 422, no. 6929, pp. 326–330, 2003.
- [9] S. Hausberg and M. Röger, "Well-posedness and fast-diffusion limit for a bulk–surface reaction–diffusion system," *Nonlinear Differential Equations and Applications NoDEA*, vol. 25, pp. 1–32, 2018.
- [10] K. Fellner, E. Latos, and B. Q. Tang, "Well-posedness and exponential equilibration of a volume-surface reaction-diffusion system with nonlinear boundary coupling," Annales de l'Institut Henri Poincaré C, Analyse non linéaire, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 643–673, 2018.
- [11] D. Bothe and D. Hilhorst, "A reaction-diffusion system with fast reversible reaction," *Journal of mathematical analysis and applications*, vol. 286, no. 1, pp. 125–135, 2003.
- [12] M. Pierre, "Global existence in reaction-diffusion systems with control of mass: a survey," *Milan Journal of Mathematics*, vol. 78, pp. 417– 455, 2010.
- [13] J. Robinson, Infinite-Dimensional Dynamical Systems: An Introduction to Dissipative Parabolic PDEs and the Theory of Global Attractors. Cambridge Texts in Applied Mathematics, Cambridge University Press, 2001.
- [14] L. Evans, Partial Differential Equations. Graduate studies in mathematics, American Mathematical Society, 2010.
- [15] H. Brezis, Functional Analysis, Sobolev Spaces and Partial Differential Equations. Universitext, Springer New York, 2010.
- [16] S. Salsa, Partial Differential Equations in Action: From Modelling to Theory. UNITEXT, Springer International Publishing, 2016.

- [17] T. Aubin, Nonlinear Analysis on Manifolds. Monge-Ampère Equations.
 Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Springer New York, 2012.
- [18] M. Taylor, Partial Differential Equations I: Basic Theory. Applied Mathematical Sciences, Springer New York, 2010.
- [19] G. Dziuk and C. M. Elliott, "Surface finite elements for parabolic equations," *Journal of Computational Mathematics*, pp. 385–407, 2007.
- [20] G. Dziuk and C. M. Elliott, "Finite element methods for surface pdes," Acta Numerica, vol. 22, pp. 289–396, 2013.
- [21] F. Boyer and P. Fabrie, Mathematical Tools for the Study of the Incompressible Navier-Stokes Equations and Related Models. Applied Mathematical Sciences, Springer New York, 2012.
- [22] A. Moussa, "Some variants of the classical aubin-lions lemma," Journal of Evolution Equations, vol. 16, pp. 65–93, 2016.
- [23] R. Showalter, Monotone Operators in Banach Space and Nonlinear Partial Differential Equations. Mathematical surveys and monographs, American Mathematical Society, 1997.
- [24] J. L. Vázquez and E. Vitillaro, "Heat equation with dynamical boundary conditions of reactive-diffusive type," *Journal of Differential Equations*, vol. 250, no. 4, pp. 2143–2161, 2011.